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02 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Chairman’s review

The international pharmaceutical industry 
has changed considerably during the last 
decade and this continued in 2003. Our view 
at Shire is that, whatever their size, successful
pharmaceutical companies now require focus,
particularly in their product markets, customer
base, research and development and cost control.
Unsurprisingly, these are areas that we focussed
on in 2003 and will continue to do so in the
current year. We have achieved clear success
to date and through greater focus expect more
to follow in 2004. 

Within his short time as Chief Executive Officer,
Matthew Emmens has shaped Shire for its
future. Our newly deployed strategic model
is designed to optimise the opportunities for
us and deal with future challenges within the
industry. Shire will position itself as the leading
company in meeting the needs of the specialist
physician with a focus on fewer, later stage and
lower risk projects. This means that we do not
invent products but acquire them. Therefore, we
are focusing on not only the type of deals that
give us a good pipeline, but also how to best
develop them with ultimate market success in
mind. We will continue to enhance our positions
in the key areas of central nervous system (CNS),
gastrointestinal (GI) and renal medicine, while
remaining alert for new therapeutic areas that
would benefit from our expertise. 

Shire’s sales force continues to deliver impressive
results and its reputation amongst specialist
physicians makes it a partner of choice when
it comes to potential acquisitions and the
in-licensing of projects and products. Our strong
cash position gives us considerable flexibility 
in looking at potential mergers and acquisitions
(M&A) opportunities and we have identified 
a small number of highly attractive targets.

2003 results
Group turnover increased by 7% to £761.1
million (2002: £712.5 million). Loss on ordinary
activities before taxation reduced to £298.3
million (2002: £526.8 million). Diluted loss per
ordinary share was 72.9 p (2002: loss of 117.5p). 

The results for 2003 include a £426.4 million
(2002: £614.0 million) write down of the goodwill
that was created on the acquisition of BioChem
Pharma Inc., in 2001.

Significantly, Shire’s cash flow remained strong
with cash inflow from operations of £280.3 million
(2002: £302.3 million) supporting a net funds
position of £584.7 million (2002: £506.2 million),
which will be used for future expansion.

The Board
We continue to develop the Shire Board to 
match the demands of what is now a large,
international business in a changing
pharmaceutical market place. 

In line with newly published recommendations 
on corporate governance, Shire has talked to 
a range of shareholders and taken advice on 
how to best meet these guidelines. A programme
of implementation is underway and more detail
can be found in the Corporate governance
statements of this document on pages 14 to 17.

In March 2003, Matthew Emmens was appointed
as Chief Executive Officer. He has a strong 
track record of success over an international
pharmaceutical career spanning nearly 30 years.
Matthew was a founder of the joint venture Astra
Merck Inc. in the US, and later its President and
Chief Executive Officer. Before joining Shire, he
was President of the global pharmaceutical
business of Merck KGaA in Germany.

Dr James Cavanaugh
Chairman

Chairman’s review
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Chairman’s review 03

In July 2003, Shire’s Board appointed Robin
Buchanan as a new non-executive Director.
He is a member of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee. Robin is the Senior Partner of the
London office of business consultants Bain
& Company and a member of the firm’s worldwide
management committee. Since joining Bain 
& Company in 1982, he has been involved in
strategy development and organisation advice 
for Bain’s clients in most industry sectors,
including healthcare. 

On 10 March 2004, we announced that
David Kappler will join the Shire Board as
a non-executive Director in April and will take
over the Chairmanship of the Audit Committee
in June 2004. Mr Kappler is Chief Financial
Officer of Cadbury Schweppes plc, the FTSE 
and NYSE listed global confectionery and
beverages group, where he has held a range 
of senior finance positions during his almost 
40 year career with the Group.

While welcoming Matthew, Robin and David,
I would also like to thank Francesco Bellini and
Gérard Veilleux for the contribution they have
made to the Board having completed their
two-year contracts with Shire.

People
Shire had 1,815 employees worldwide as of
31 December 2003. We believe strongly in the
importance of hiring well qualified, experienced
staff with proven records of success. The Group’s
future progress depends upon its ability to attract
and retain such individuals. Shire will continue 
to apply and develop a strong focus on staff
recruitment and development at all levels. 

Current trading and future prospects
The Company is trading in line with our
expectations. Shire has well-established 
positions in growing markets, a well defined
strategy, strong cash resources and a promising
pipeline of late stage drugs. Consequently, we
are confident of delivering sustained growth in
2004, following the momentum we developed 
in 2003.
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04 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Chief Executive Officer’s review

In 2003, Shire reviewed and began implementing
a new strategy aimed at ensuring continued
future growth. Since its inception, Shire has
grown through acquisitions, subsequent product
development and effective selling. This idea
remains the foundation of our model. Some could
say that it is “back to the future” in that we will
search (take the “re” from research), and then
develop and sell. But at this point in our history,
this would be over-simplification. The Group has
migrated from this simple idea, and making this
proven concept viable in today’s larger organisation
has kept us very busy. 

Starting in July, we began exiting certain
businesses, changing our organisational structure
and reshaping our leadership. It is critical that 
we simplify, create a unified culture and, most
importantly, integrate our drug development and
commercial activities. I believe that these actions
are the fundamental underpinnings that will
enable the organisation to create value in the
longer term. 

Our goal is clear – we plan to lead where we
choose to compete. Our opportunities lie in
addressing underserved markets and growing
products beyond what consensus opinion might
be. We have done this consistently in the past.
We have learned that with the right products,
small, agile and focused sales forces can deliver
impressive results. 

Strategic actions in 2003 
Focused Research and Development (R&D)
We have refocused our R&D resources and
technology to concentrate on areas where we
have a commercial presence and on a small
number of high-potential, late-stage products.
After a thorough evaluation of our pipeline, we
currently have 6 products in registration, 2 in
Phase III and 2 in Phase II of development. This
strategy aims to deliver the combined benefit of
increased returns and lower risk.

Our model emphasises the “D” in R&D.
Therefore, our “R” is based on finding products
invented by others. I believe this is a sound idea
because “in house” R&D has not met the needs
of the larger companies. During 2003, slightly
less than one-half of all products marketed by
large pharmaceutical companies were not
invented there. This percentage has increased
steadily over the last decade. Conversely,
approximately 70% of all Phase III1 projects 
were developed by non-major pharmaceutical
companies. Our conclusion is that pre-clinical
research is becoming less predictable and the
creativity may lie in a diffuse cross-section of
smaller companies or in products that are too
small to contribute in a meaningful way to the
major companies. Therefore, we are focusing 
our licensing efforts on products or projects in
the later stages of development with potential
peak sales of US$150 million to US$500 million.
This seems to keep us below what is relevant 
to large Pharma, but meaningful to us.

Exiting Businesses
As we announced in August, we intend to 
exit our vaccines business. We have had
numerous expressions of interest and are
currently examining the options, which will 
best suit our shareholders and the Company’s
interest. In pursuing these options we expect 
to have completed the process by the middle 
of 2004. We have closed our early stage research
(Lead Optimisation) unit in Canada and closed
US manufacturing and distribution sites. 

Mergers & Acquisitions and Out-licensing
In addition, as a result of exiting oncology and
anti-infective research, we announced that we
would examine opportunities to out-license the
oncology project, TROXATYL® and to seek a
partner for the HIV project, SPD754 – both phase
II projects. We continue to expect both to be
completed by the middle of 2004. 

Our geographic focus is on the US and Europe.
Therefore, we successfully out-licensed the
Japanese marketing and development rights to
AGRYLIN® and FOSRENOL® to two companies
with established presence in this market. 

Furthermore, we have significantly enhanced our
M&A effort by targeting acquisitions in the US,
including larger scale transactions.

Matthew Emmens
Chief Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer’s review
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Chief Executive Officer’s review 05

Reorganisation 
Given Shire’s merger history and rapid
development, it was inevitable that a complex
structure had developed. In order to better
integrate, coordinate and rationalise our business
activities, we have embarked on a wide reaching
strategic change programme. The aim is to
move the Group from a silo structure to a
globally integrated organisation composed of
cross-functional teams with clear accountability
for delivering results. The business will also be
serviced by support functions that will be global
in their outlook. I have changed our management
model to accomplish this. This resulted in
changes to the composition of the Executive
Committee and the addition of two management
components – The Portfolio Review Committee
and Portfolio Teams. I chair both the Executive
Committee and the Portfolio Review Committee
(PRC) and the Portfolio Teams report in to the PRC.

The US is the world’s largest pharmaceuticals
market, where we already generate 68% of 
our revenues and where more than 50% of 
our employees are based. In recognition of this
we will establish a new corporate office on the
East Coast of America, Philadelphia is being
considered in this regard. In addition to the
vaccine sites in Canada and the US that will 
be exited, we will close our Newport, Kentucky
and Rockville, Maryland sites.

The introduction of the Portfolio Teams and the
housing of R&D and US commercial functions
under one roof will improve communication 
and focus and speed up the process of making
decisions. Other key corporate functions such 
as Business Development and Human Resources
will also be located in the new US office. Shire’s
UK Basingstoke office will remain the Company’s
headquarters, but all Executive Committee
members will have offices in both locations to
ensure management is spending time where the
day-to-day business needs are greatest. The
International division will continue to be led from
the UK and appropriate significant R&D presence
will also be maintained in Basingstoke to serve
the European markets.

We foresee having just four major North American
facilities by the end of 2005 compared with
fourteen at the beginning of 2003.

Patent challenges
It is inevitable that Shire will receive challenges,
particularly from generic manufacturers, to its
drugs portfolio – it is a reflection of today’s
pharmaceutical industry. Our position is clear:
we will vigorously defend our intellectual
property, including patents.

Corporate Social Responsibility
Our approach to Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) has also developed during the year; with
the establishment of our CSR Committee led by
our Chief Financial Officer Angus Russell, and 
the setting of 2004 objectives. We will continue 
to report regularly on these activities. 

Future development 
Shire is stronger than ever and I am confident
that the implementation of our strategic initiatives
will position us well for future growth. The
Company has a promising future with a strong
product franchise, an energetic management
team and several very promising projects in the
late stages of development which should be
ready for launch in the near to mid term. Our 
aim during the forthcoming year is to continue 
to strengthen Shire’s position in its marketplaces
and to develop the Company into one of the
leading specialty pharmaceutical companies 
in the world. 

The year 2003 was exciting and challenging. The
dedication and professionalism of our employees
made our success possible. Their hard work and
innovative approach will continue to ensure
success for the Company in the years ahead.

1source: IMS, R&D Focus January 2004.
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06 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Financial review

The following review should be read in conjunction
with the Group’s consolidated financial statements
and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
annual report.

Results of operations
The Group recorded a loss on ordinary activities
before taxation of £298.3 million (2002: loss of
£526.8 million) and diluted loss per share of
72.9p (2002: loss of 117.5p). The results for 2003
include a £426.4 million (2002: £614.0 million)
impairment of the goodwill that was created 
on the acquisition of BioChem Pharma Inc. 
(as explained in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements). 

Turnover 
For the year ended 31 December 2003, total
revenues increased by 7% to £761.1 million,
compared to £712.5 million in 2002. Over 80% 
of the Group’s turnover comes from sales made
in US dollars and thus the significant weakening
of the US dollar against sterling this year has
depressed the underlying growth of the business
reported in these accounts. This is discussed in
more detail below.

Turnover is primarily derived from sales of
pharmaceutical products and royalties earned 
on products out-licensed to third parties. For the
year ended 31 December 2003, 84% of turnover
was in respect of pharmaceutical product sales
(2002: 84%).

(a) Product sales 
For the year ended 31 December 2003, the
Group’s product sales increased by 7% to
£635.5 million, compared to £596.3 million 
in the prior year.

The following statements include references 
to prescription and market share data for key
products. The source of this data is IMS Health
December 2003. IMS Health is a leading global
provider of business intelligence for the
pharmaceutical and healthcare industries.

ADDERALL XR®

Sales of ADDERALL XR for the year ended 
31 December 2003 were £289.8 million, an
increase of 38% compared to prior year (2002:
£210.7 million). Sales of ADDERALL XR are made
in US dollars. The movement in exchange rates
has reduced the reported growth by 11%, as 
the underlying growth denominated in US dollars
is 49%. ADDERALL XR held 23% share of the
total US Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
(ADHD) market in December 2003, compared
with 18% in December 2002.

ADDERALL®

Sales of ADDERALL for the year ended 
31 December 2003 were £37.3 million (2002:
£74.6 million). ADDERALL had a 2% share of 
the total US ADHD market in December 2003,
compared with 5% in December 2002. The fall 
in market share was anticipated and is the result
of the switch of patients to either ADDERALL XR
or generic alternatives.

AGRYLIN 
Sales of AGRYLIN for the year ended 31 December
2003 were £80.9 million, an increase of 2%
compared to the prior year (2002: £79.1 million).
Sales are made primarily in US dollars although
some sales are made in Euros. The adverse
impact of the movement in exchange rates this
year has suppressed the underlying growth by
9%. The underlying growth denominated in US
dollars was 11%. AGRYLIN had a 27% share 
of the total US AGRYLIN, Hydrea and generic
hydroxyurea prescription market in December
2003 (2002: 27%).

PENTASA™ 
Sales of PENTASA for the year ended 
31 December 2003 were £60.6 million an 
increase of 5% compared to prior year (2002:
£57.9 million). Sales are made in US dollars 
and the weakening of the dollar against sterling
has reduced the reported growth significantly.
The underlying growth of PENTASA sales 
in US dollars is 14%. PENTASA had a 17% 
share of the total US oral mesalamine/olsalazine
prescription market in December 2003, compared
with 18% in December 2002.

Angus Russell
Group Finance Director

Financial review
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Financial review 07

CARBATROL®

Sales of CARBATROL for the year ended 31
December 2003 were £32.0 million, an increase
of 6% compared to prior year (2002: £30.3 million).
Again sales of CARBATROL are made in US
dollars and the exchange rate movements have
suppressed the reported growth by 10%. The
underlying sales growth in US dollars is 16%.
CARBATROL had a 43% share of the total US
extended release carbamazepine prescription
market in December 2003, compared with 
36% in December 2002.

PROAMATINE®

Sales of PROAMATINE for the year ended 31
December 2003 were £30.1 million, a decrease of
11% compared to prior year (2002: £33.7 million).
Sales are made in US dollars. At the end of the
third quarter of 2003, sales of PROAMATINE were
subject to generic competition which caused an
underlying reduction of 3%. The movement in
exchange rates also had an 8% adverse impact
on the reported growth in sterling. PROAMATINE
had a 15% share of the total US PROAMATINE
and fludrocortisone acetate prescription market
in December 2003, compared with 25% in
December 2002.

(b) Royalties
Royalty revenue increased 7% to £122.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2003, compared
to £114.1 million in 2002. A large proportion of
the royalties are received in US dollars and the
reported growth in US dollars shows a 16%
increase compared to 2002.

Shire receives royalties from Glaxo Smith Kline
plc (GSK) on worldwide sales of 3TC™ and
ZEFFIX™. Other royalties are primarily in respect
of REMINYL™ (galantamine hydrobromide), 
a product marketed worldwide by Johnson 
& Johnson (J&J), with the exception of the UK,
where a commercialisation partnership with 
J&J exists.

Cost of sales and net operating expenses
For the year ended 31 December 2003 cost 
of product sales amounted to 16% of product
sales (2002: 16%). 

Distribution costs were £156.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2003 (2002: £167.1 million)
and represented 25% of total product sales
(2002: 28%). The fall in distribution costs this year,
as a percentage of product sales, is due to higher
than normal costs incurred in 2002 as a result of
the launch and marketing of ADDERALL XR.

Research and development expenditure increased
4% to £131.7 million in 2003, and as a proportion
of turnover represented 17% (2002: 18%). Shire’s
strategic priority is now the development of later
stage, lower risk products. As a result of this
focus Shire closed its Lead Optimisation unit 
in Canada.

Administration expenses decreased from 
£857.4 million in 2002 to £670.9 million in 2003, 
a decrease of 22%. Excluding the goodwill
impairment charges of £426.4 million (2002:
£614.0 million), there was an increase of 0.5%.
As a percentage of turnover administration
expenses, excluding the goodwill impairment,
was 32% (2002: 34%).

Capital structure
The Group has financed its operations since
inception through private and public offerings 
of equity securities, the issuance of loan notes
and convertible notes, collaborative licensing 
and development fees, product sales and
investment income. 

The Group’s funding requirements depend 
on a number of factors, including the Group’s
product development programmes, business 
and product acquisitions, the level of resources
required for the expansion of marketing capabilities
as the product base expands, increased investment
in trade debtors and stock levels which may 
arise as sales levels increase, competitive and
technological developments, the timing and cost 
of obtaining required regulatory approvals for new
products and the continuing revenues generated
from sales of key products.

During the year the Company purchased and
subsequently cancelled 7,592,778 ordinary
shares at a cost of £31.8 million, including
expenses, with a nominal value of £379,639.
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08 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Financial review

As of 31 December 2003, the Group had cash
and current asset investments of £791.6 million
(2002: £754.8 million), which consisted of
immediately available money market fund
balances and investment grade securities. 
Total long-term debt excluding capital leases 
as of 31 December 2003 was £203.1 million
(2002: £244.3 million), of which £202.7 million
(2002: £243.5 million) was in respect of 
$370 million (2002: $400 million) guaranteed
convertible notes. These convertible notes, 
due 2011, were issued to international
institutional investors and bear interest 
at a rate of 2% per annum. 

Investors have the right to require the issuer 
to redeem the notes at par on 21 August 2004,
2006 or 2008. Subject to certain conditions, the
convertible notes will be callable after 21 August
2004. See note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements for further information.

During the second quarter of 2003, Shire
repurchased £17.6 million ($29.8 million) of the
$400 million 2% guaranteed convertible notes
due 2011. 

Treasury policies and financial 
risk management
Shire's principal treasury operations are managed
by the corporate treasury function based in the
UK. All treasury operations are conducted within
a framework of policies and procedures approved
by the Board. As a matter of policy, the Group
does not undertake speculative transactions that
would increase currency or interest rate exposure.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing
these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk
The Group is exposed to movements in foreign
exchange rates against the US dollar for trading
transactions and the translation of net assets 
and earnings of non-US subsidiaries. The main
trading currencies of the Group are the US dollar,
the Canadian dollar, pounds sterling and the
euro. The financial statements of foreign entities
are translated using the accounting policies
described in note 1(m) to the consolidated
financial statements. 

A small proportion of debt is denominated in
non-US dollar currencies. As at 31 December
2003, a total of £0.8 million was outstanding
(2002: £1.2 million) in respect of loans
denominated in Canadian dollars.

The exposure to foreign exchange market risk 
is managed and monitored by the Group treasury
function. The Group has not undertaken any
foreign currency hedges through the use of
forward foreign exchange contracts or foreign
exchange derivatives during the year to 31
December 2003. Instead, exposures have 
been managed through natural hedging via 
the currency denomination of cash balances.

Market risk of investments
As at 31 December 2003, the Group had 
£33.3 million (2002: £37.3 million) of investments
on its books comprising equity investment funds,
private companies and public quoted companies.
The public quoted companies are exposed to
market risk. No financial instruments or derivatives
have been employed to hedge this risk.

Interest rate risk 
Due to the proportion of fixed rate debt, the
Group’s interest charge has limited exposure 
to interest rate movements.

Total debt, excluding capital leases, as of 
31 December 2003 was £203.5 million (2002:
£244.7 million). The main component was the
$370 million (2002: $400 million) in guaranteed
convertible notes due 2011.

The convertible notes bear interest of 2% per
annum, payable semi-annually. This interest rate
is fixed over the period of the debt, thus reducing
any cash flow risk associated with movements 
in interest rates. 

The interest rate risk that has been mitigated 
by obtaining a fixed rate debt is equivalent to a
£2.1 million saving per 1% rise in interest rates
per annum. Conversely, a fall in interest rates by
1% would effectively cost the Group £2.1 million.

In the year ended 31 December 2003, the
average interest rate received on cash and liquid
investments was approximately 1.18% per
annum. The largest proportion of investments
was in US dollar liquidity funds.
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Financial review 09

Taxation
For the year ended 31 December 2003, the tax
charge increased by £3.4 million to £65.0 million.
A tax charge has been recognised on the loss
before taxation in 2003 and 2002 as the write
down of the goodwill and goodwill amortisation
are not allowable expenses in arriving at the
profit for tax purposes.

A reconciliation of the current tax charge for 
2003 to the loss before tax for the year at the
statutory tax rate of 30% is given in note 7 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

Cash flows
As at 31 December 2003, cash and current 
asset investments totalled £791.6 million, 
an increase of £36.8 million from £754.8 million 
at 31 December 2002. Current asset investments
consisted of money market fund balances and
investment grade securities. 

For the year ended 31 December 2003, net cash
inflow from operating activities amounted to
£280.3 million compared to £302.3 million in
2002. There are some significant non-cash items
that have created an operating loss in 2003 and
2002 but the underlying business is substantially
cash generative.

During the year ended 31 December 2003, cash
generated from operations was used primarily to
fund the Group’s tax payments, capital expenditures
including the purchase of intangible and tangible
fixed assets, repayment of debt and a share 
buy-back programme. 

Capital expenditure 
Expenditure on intangible fixed assets of 
£30.2 million comprised various product
acquisitions including the worldwide sales 
and marketing rights to METHYPATCH® for 
£16.1 million ($25.0 million). 

Capital expenditure on tangible fixed assets 
in the year ended 31 December 2003 was 
£31.4 million. This expenditure included the
purchase of a new office building for Shire’s UK
based R&D operations (£6.4 million) and further
upgrades to the US manufacturing facility. 
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10 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Board of Directors

1. Dr James Cavanaugh (67)
Chairman and Non-executive Director 
Joined the Board of Shire on 24 March
1997 and was appointed as non-executive
Chairman with effect from 11 May 1999.
Dr Cavanaugh is President of HealthCare
Ventures LLC. Formerly he was President
of SmithKline & French Laboratories, the
US pharmaceutical division of SmithKline
Beecham Corporation. Prior to that,
he was President of SmithKline Beecham
Corporation’s clinical laboratory business
and, before that, President of Allergan
International. Prior to his industry experience,
Dr Cavanaugh served as Deputy Assistant
to the President of the US for Health Affairs
on the White House Staff in Washington,
DC. He is non-executive Chairman of
Diversa Corporation and Vicuron, Inc. and 
a non-executive director of MedImmune Inc.
and Advancis Pharmaceutical Corporation.
Dr Cavanaugh was a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee and chairman of the
Nomination Committee in 2003.

2. Mr Matthew Emmens (52)
Chief Executive Officer
Joined Shire as Chief Executive Officer
and member of the Board of Shire on
12 March 2003. Mr Emmens began his
career in international pharmaceuticals
with Merck & Co, Inc. in 1974. He held
a wide range of sales, marketing and
administrative positions before volunteering
to help establish Astra Merck, the joint
venture between Merck and Astra AB
of Sweden. He later became President
and Chief Executive Officer. In 1999 
he joined Merck KGaA and established
EMD Pharmaceuticals, the company’s 
US prescription pharmaceutical business
and was later promoted to President 
of the global prescription business and
moved to Germany to run the prescription
division of that company. Mr Emmens is a
graduate of Fairleigh Dickenson University
(New Jersey, US) with a BS in Business
Management. Mr Emmens is the chairman
of the Executive Committee and Portfolio
Review Committee.

3. Mr Angus Russell (48)
Chief Financial Officer
Joined Shire in 1999 as Group Finance
Director. Mr Russell previously worked for
ICI, Zeneca and AstraZeneca. His last
position was Vice President – Corporate
Finance at AstraZeneca plc. Prior to this,
he held a number of positions within the
Zeneca Group from 1993 until 1999
including Group Treasurer, and before that
in ICI from 1980 until 1992. Mr Russell is
a chartered accountant, having qualified
with Coopers & Lybrand, and is a fellow
of the Association of Corporate Treasurers.
Mr Russell is a member of the Executive
Committee. He is also a non-executive
director of the City of London Investment
Trust plc.

4. Dr Wilson Totten (48)
Group R&D Director
Joined Shire on 17 January 1998 as R&D
Director. Dr Totten is a medical doctor and
has wide experience in the pharmaceutical
industry covering all phases of drug
development. He has substantial experience
in the field of worldwide drug development.
He was Vice President of Clinical R&D with
Astra Charnwood from 1995 to 1997,
having previously worked for Fisons
Pharmaceuticals from 1989 to 1995, and
prior to that with 3M Health Care and 
Eli Lilly. Dr Totten is a member of the
Executive Committee.

Board of Directors

1. 2. 3. 4.

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 10



Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Board of Directors 11

5. Dr Barry Price (60)
Senior Non-executive Director
Joined the Board of Shire on 16 January
1996 having spent 28 years with Glaxo
holding a succession of executive positions
with Glaxo Group Research. He is Chairman
of Antisoma plc and Biowisdom Ltd. 
He is also on the board of directors of
Pharmagene plc. Dr Price was Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of both the Audit Committee 
and the Nomination Committee in 2003.

6. The Hon James Grant (66)
Non-executive Director
Joined the Board of Shire on 11 May 2001
as a non-executive Director. Prior to its
merger with Shire, Mr Grant had been a
director of BioChem Pharma Inc. since
1986. He is a partner with the law firm
Stikeman Elliot in Montreal. Mr Grant sits
on the boards of two Canadian public
corporations, in addition to other private
corporations and foundations and councils
that are not for profit organisations.
He attended McGill University receiving 
a BA in Arts in 1958 and a BCL in Law 
in 1961. Mr Grant was a member of the
Nomination Committee in 2003.

7. Mr Ronald Nordmann (62)
Non-executive Director
Joined the Board of Shire on 23 December
1999 having previously served as a 
non-executive director of Roberts
Pharmaceutical Corporation since May
1999. Mr Nordmann has been a financial
analyst in healthcare equities since 1971.
From September 1994 to January 2000 
he was an analyst and partner at Deerfield
Management. He is currently Co-President
of Global Health Associates and has 
held senior positions with PaineWebber,
Oppenheimer & Co., F Eberstadt & Co.,
and Warner-Chilcott Laboratories, a division
of Warner-Lambert. Mr Nordmann received
his undergraduate degree from The Johns
Hopkins University and an MBA from
Fairleigh Dickinson University. Mr
Nordmann is also a director of Guilford
Pharmaceuticals Inc., Neurochem Inc. 
and Pharmaceutical Resources Inc. 
Mr Nordmann was Chairman of the 
Audit Committee and a member of 
the Nomination Committee in 2003.

8. Mr Robin Buchanan (51)
Non-executive Director
Joined the Board of Shire on 30 July 2003.
He is the Senior Partner of the London
office of business consultants Bain &
Company and a member of the firm’s
worldwide management committee. 
Prior to his career with Bain & Company,
Mr Buchanan worked for American Express
International Banking Corporation in New
York, McKinsey & Company and Deloitte 
& Touche where he qualified as a Chartered
Accountant. Mr Buchanan currently serves
as a non-executive director of Liberty
International plc. Mr Buchanan has an 
MBA with Distinction (Baker Scholar) from
Harvard Business School. Mr Buchanan
was a member of the Remuneration
Committee in 2003.

5. 6. 7. 8.
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The Directors present their report on the affairs of the Group and
the Company together with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2003.

Results and dividends
The loss on ordinary activities before taxation of the Group was
£298.3 million (2002: £526.8 million). The net assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2003 were £2,308.5 million (2002: £2,747.7
million). The Directors do not recommend the payment of a
dividend (2002: £nil). 

Principal activity 
The principal activity of the Group is the marketing and research
and development of prescription medicines. The Group focuses
on three therapeutic areas: central nervous system, gastrointestinal
and renal medicine.

Business review
A review of the Group’s business and important events during the
year and likely future developments is set out in the Chairman’s
statement, the Chief Executive Officer’s review and the Financial
review on pages 2 to 9.

Corporate governance
The Directors are committed to business integrity and
professionalism and as an essential part of this commitment the
Board supports high standards of corporate governance. Details
concerning the Group’s arrangements relating to corporate
governance and its compliance with the Combined Code in effect
for the financial year 2003 are given on pages 14 to 17 and the
remuneration policy contained in the Directors’ remuneration
report is detailed on pages 18 to 29.

Authorised and called up share capital
Details of the authorised and called up share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2003 and the changes during the year are set
out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Market purchases of ordinary shares
The Company was given authority at the 2003 Annual General
Meeting (AGM) to make market purchases of up to 48,452,304 
of its own ordinary shares of 5p each at a maximum price per
share of 105% of the middle market price. During the year, the
Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 7,592,778
ordinary shares at a cost of £31.8 million, including expenses,
with a nominal value of £379,639 at prices between 398.95p 
and 441.23p, representing approximately 1.6% of its issued 
share capital. The authority will expire at the 2004 AGM and
approval will be sought from shareholders at the 2004 AGM 
to renew the authority for a further year.

Research and development
The Group continues an active research and development
programme and as a result has incurred research and development
costs of £131.7 million in the financial year ended 31 December
2003 (2002: £126.1 million). These costs have been charged to 
the consolidated profit and loss account in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy.

Directors 
The Directors who served during the year were as follows:
Dr James Cavanaugh, Chairman, Non-executive Director 
and Chairman of Nomination Committee

Mr Matthew Emmens, Chief Executive Officer
Appointed 12 March 2003

Mr Angus Russell, Chief Financial Officer

Dr Wilson Totten, Group R&D Director

Dr Barry Price, Senior Non-executive Director and Chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee

The Hon James Grant, Non-executive Director 

Mr Ronald Nordmann, Non-executive Director and Chairman 
of the Audit Committee

Mr Robin Buchanan, Non-executive Director
Appointed 30 July 2003

Mr Rolf Stahel, Former Chief Executive
Resigned 19 March 2003

Dr Francesco Bellini, Non-executive Director
Stepped down 10 May 2003

Mr Gérard Veilleux, Non-executive Director
Stepped down 10 May 2003

Directors’ interests
Details of the current Directors’ interests in the share capital of the
Company, as shown in the register maintained in accordance with
Section 325 of the Companies Act 1985, together with details of
the share options granted to them are disclosed in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 18 to 29.

Re-appointment
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr
Robin Buchanan, having been appointed as a Director by the
Board retires at the forthcoming AGM and will be proposed for 
re-appointment. Dr James Cavanaugh and Dr Barry Price retire 
by rotation and offer themselves for re-appointment. Each of the
Directors being proposed for re-appointment is a non-executive
Director and the terms of their respective engagements are
governed by letters of appointment. None of the non-executive
Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract.

Interest in material contracts
Other than the related party transactions disclosed below, none 
of the current Directors had a material interest in any contract 
of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiary
undertakings was a party during the period under review.

Related party transactions
(a) The Group incurred professional fees with a Canadian 

law firm in which The Hon James Grant is a partner, totalling
£0.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2003 (2002:
£771). At 31 December 2003, £0.3 million (2002: £nil) was 
due to the law firm in which the Hon James Grant is a partner.

(b) BioChem Immunosystems Inc. (Immunosystems), formerly a
wholly owned subsidiary of BioChem Pharma Inc. (BioChem),
was sold in February 2000 to a third party. Dr Bellini, the
former chief executive officer of BioChem, continued as 
a director of Immunosystems. In December 2001, the
Company acquired a 19.9% equity interest in Immunosystems
in consideration for the release of a debt owing to the Company
from Immunosystems. This debt existed prior to the
Company’s merger with BioChem. As part of the same
transaction, the Company was released from a pre-existing
BioChem guarantee over other Immunosystems’ liabilities. 
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(c) Mr Spitznagel, a former Director of the Company, entered 
into a consultancy agreement with the Company in 
December 1999, which provided that:

i. Mr Spitznagel would provide consultancy services to the
Company for at least 42 months following the acquisition
of Roberts, unless Mr Spitznagel terminated the consultancy
agreement prior to the end of the 42nd month upon 30
days’ notice; and

ii. The Company would pay Mr Spitznagel at a rate of
£248,000 per annum for his consulting services, £93,000
per annum as an office allowance, £155,000 per annum to
comply with certain restrictive covenants contained therein
and £93,000 per annum for tax, financial and estate
planning advice, life insurance and health insurance.

Mr Spitznagel was paid £0.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2003 (2002: £0.3 million). The consultancy agreement
terminated with effect from October 2003 and no further amounts
are to be paid to Mr Spitznagel.

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
In the year under review, the Company and the Group maintained
an insurance policy for its Directors and Officers in respect of
liabilities arising out of any act, error or omission whilst acting 
in their capacity as Directors or Officers.

Substantial shareholdings
The information disclosed to the Company pursuant to sections
198 to 208 of the Companies Act 1985 regarding holdings in the
ordinary share capital of the Company exceeding 3% as at 10
March 2004 shows that Franklin Resources, Inc. (including its
affiliates) have a holding of 13.94%; FMR Corp. (and its direct 
and indirect subsidiaries) and Fidelity International Limited (and 
its direct and indirect subsidiaries) collectively have a holding of
13.05%; and the Legal & General Group has a holding of 3.04%.

Political donations
The Group did not make any donations to political parties during
the year ended 31 December 2003 (2002: £nil).

Charitable contributions
During the year, UK charitable contributions amounting to 
£22,000 (2002: £10,000) were made. The contributions were
primarily to charitable medical foundations.

Employee involvement
As at 31 December 2003, the Group employed 1,815 personnel,
310 of whom were based in the UK.

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of 
its employees and constantly seeks to develop employee
involvement throughout the Group. Employees are kept informed
on matters affecting the Group’s performance and on matters that
concern them as employees. The Group communicates with its
employees by routinely circulating details and announcements
concerning the Group’s performance, informing them of policies
and guidelines that may affect them, and holding regular briefing
meetings. The Group publishes an employee newsletter and
information brochure to which employees have an opportunity 
to contribute. The Group also operates various employee 
share schemes, details of which are set out in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 18 to 29 and in note 23 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s employment polices are developed to reflect local
legal, cultural and employment requirements and to maintain high
standards wherever the Group operates. Employees at all levels
within the Group are encouraged to make the best possible
contribution to the Group’s success.

Equal opportunities
The Group operates an equal opportunities policy that aims to
treat individuals fairly and not to discriminate on grounds of sex,
race, ethnic origin or disability. Applications for employment,
including those by disabled persons, are fully considered on their
merits, and employees are given appropriate training and equal
opportunities for career development and promotion.

Disabled employees
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always 
fully considered, bearing in mind the aptitudes of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled,
every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Group continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is 
the policy of the Group that the training, career development 
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, 
be identical to that of other employees.

Health, safety and welfare
The Directors are committed to ensuring the health, safety and
welfare of the Group’s employees at work. Accordingly, it is the
Group’s policy to manage its activities so as to avoid causing any
unnecessary or unacceptable risk to employees and those who
may be affected by the Group’s business.

Payment of creditors
It is the Group’s policy to agree payment terms with its suppliers,
making sure the supplier is aware of those terms, and to abide by
them. As at 31 December 2003 there were 12 trade creditors days
outstanding (2002: 21 days).

Annual General Meeting
The Notice convening the Annual General Meeting to be held on
16 June 2004 can be found in a separate notice accompanying
the Annual Report.

Auditors
On 1 August 2003, Deloitte & Touche, the Company’s auditors
transferred their entire business to Deloitte & Touche LLP, a 
limited liability partnership incorporated under the Limited Liability
Partnerships Act 2000. The Company’s consent has been given 
to treating the appointment of Deloitte & Touche as extending 
to Deloitte & Touche LLP with effect from 1 August 2003 under 
the provisions of section 26(5) of the Companies Act 1989.
Accordingly the accounts have been signed in the name of
Deloitte & Touche LLP.

A resolution proposing the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche
LLP as auditors to the Company will be put to the Annual General
Meeting in accordance with Section 384 of the Companies Act
1985. The Audit Committee reviews both the level of the audit 
fee and the level and nature of non-audit fees as part of its review
of the adequacy and objectivity of the audit process.

By order of the Board

Tatjana May
Company Secretary

12 March 2004
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The Company is committed to high standards of corporate
governance
The Board is committed to high standards of corporate
governance. In July 2003, the new Combined Code on Corporate
Governance was published and will take effect for the Company
for the financial year commencing on 1 January 2004. The
Company has already taken steps to comply with the new
Combined Code, notwithstanding that it is not required to do 
so until its report for the 2004 financial year. The Company’s
compliance with the provisions of the new Combined Code is
described in this corporate governance review.

Throughout the period under review the Company has, in the
Directors’ opinion, (i) applied the principles of the Combined 
Code in effect for the 2003 financial year and (ii) complied with 
the provisions of the Combined Code in effect for the 2003
financial year.

The Board
The Board comprises three executive and five non-executive
Directors and meets at least five times a year. 

The Board has overall responsibility for managing the Company
and its strategic direction and seeks to provide effective leadership
and the control required for a listed company. The Board has
formally reserved specific matters to itself for determination which
include strategic issues, budgeting, changes in share capital,
approval of the Company’s financial statements and entry into
material contracts. Matters not formally reserved to the Board are
delegated to the Executive Committee and to various other Board
committees set out below. The Board receives detailed information
from executive Directors, the Company Secretary and other senior
managers to enable it to exercise its responsibility.

All Directors have access to the advice and guidance of the
Company Secretary and are encouraged to seek independent
advice at the Company’s expense, where they feel it is appropriate.
The Board is of the opinion that each of its members has the
knowledge, aptitude and experience to perform the functions
required of a director of a listed company. 

Biographical details of the members of the Board are shown on
pages 10 and 11. 

Independent Directors
The Board considers Dr James Cavanaugh, Dr Barry Price, The
Hon James Grant, Mr Ronald Nordmann and Mr Robin Buchanan
to be independent non-executive Directors. The Board views each
of these non-executive Directors to be independent of management,
independent in judgement and character, and free from any
business or other relationship which could materially interfere 
with the exercise of their independent judgement.

The Board considered its non-executive Chairman, Dr James
Cavanaugh, to be an independent non-executive Director in 
2003. Dr Cavanaugh is a member of the Company’s Audit and
Remuneration Committees and is Chairman of the Company’s
Nomination Committee. As the new Combined Code contemplates
that the Chairman should no longer be considered to be
“independent”, the Company will address this by changing 
the constitution of the Audit and Remuneration Committees
in 2004.

The Board has taken into consideration that The Hon James Grant
is a partner of Stikeman Elliot, a Canadian law firm which, from time
to time, provides legal advice to the Group. The Board considers 
Mr Grant to be independent notwithstanding his position as he is
not involved in the provision of legal advice to the Company and 
is not engaged in marketing the services of Stikeman Elliott to the
Company. Mr Grant was a board member of BioChem Pharma Inc.
prior to its merger with the Company in 2001 and he brings a wealth
of experience and expertise to the Board. 

Board changes
There were several changes to the Board in 2003. Mr Rolf Stahel,
the Company’s former Chief Executive stepped down from the
Board on 19 March 2003 and Dr Francesco Bellini and Mr Gérard
Veilleux stepped down from the Board as non-executive Directors
on 10 May 2003. Mr Matthew Emmens joined the Board as Chief
Executive Officer on 12 March 2003 and Mr Robin Buchanan
joined the Board as a non-executive Director and a member 
of the Remuneration Committee on 30 July 2003. 

Board Meetings
During 2003, there were 14 Board meetings of which five were
face-to-face meetings and the remainder held by telephone. Board
meetings are well attended. The record of attendance by Directors
at Board meetings is set out below:

Number of
meetings Out of

Directors attended possible %

James Cavanaugh (Chairman) 14 14 100
Matthew Emmens (Chief Executive Officer) 11 11 100
(appointed 12 March 2003)
Angus Russell (Chief Financial Officer) 14 14 100
Wilson Totten 14 14 100
Barry Price 14 14 100
The Hon James Grant 13 14 93
Ronald Nordmann 14 14 100
Robin Buchanan 5 6 83
(appointed 30 July 2003)
Rolf Stahel (stepped down 19 March 2003) 3 3 100
Dr Francesco Bellini 4 5 80
(stepped down 10 May 2003)
Gérard Veilleux 3 5 60
(stepped down 10 May 2003)

The non-executive Directors have met informally during the year
without the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer present but 
not as part of a structured programme. It is intended that such
meetings will be formalised in 2004.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
The offices of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
separately. The Chairman, Dr James Cavanaugh, is responsible 
for the conduct of the Board and ensures that Board discussions
are conducted in such a way that all views are taken into account,
so that no individual Director or small group of Directors
dominates proceedings. The Chief Executive Officer has the
general responsibility for running the business on a day to day
basis and chairs the Executive Committee.

The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer are clearly defined, separate and have been
approved by the Board.
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Senior non-executive Director
Dr Barry Price is the nominated senior independent non-executive
Director.

Supply of information
The executive Directors and the Company Secretary are
responsible for ensuring that detailed information is provided 
to Board members in advance of any scheduled Board meeting.
Before decisions are made consideration is given to the adequacy
of information available to the Board and, if necessary, decisions
are deferred if further information is required.

Re-appointment
Non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of two years,
subject to shareholder approval. Re-appointment of non-executive
Directors following the expiry of such two-year period is subject to
satisfactory performance and to Board approval. 

At each Annual General Meeting, any Director who has been
appointed by the Board is required to seek re-election, together
with, but not exceeding, one-third of the other Directors for the
time being. Accordingly, no Director should serve for more than
three years without being subject to re-election by shareholders.

Performance Appraisals
The new Combined Code will require the Company to describe
how performance evaluation of the Board, its committees and its
Directors has been conducted. Whilst the Board has monitored
overall Board and individual Director performance during 2003, a
more formal performance evaluation for the Board, its committees
and for each Director will be introduced in 2004. 

Committees of the Board
The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Executive
Committee. Each committee has its own written terms of reference
that have been approved by the Board. The terms of reference for
the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees have recently
been revised and updated in light of new regulatory requirements 
in the United States and the release of best practice guidance 
in the UK. The terms of reference of the Audit, Nomination and
Remuneration Committees will be made available on the Company’s
website in 2004. Details of each committee are as follows:

i) Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is required, amongst other things, to 
review the effectiveness of internal control systems, to monitor 
the relationship with external auditors including discussing the 
scope of the audit and any issues arising from it, to review the
Company’s statutory accounts and other financial statements 
and information and to review the business risks faced by the
Company. The Audit Committee also proposes to shareholders 
the appointment or the reappointment of the external auditors 
and is responsible for recommending their remuneration. 

The Audit Committee is also required to approve any audit and
non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditors. Any 
such services are either approved by the Audit Committee, or if
between scheduled Audit Committee meetings, by the Chairman
of the Audit Committee (who has been delegated responsibility for
doing so) or are provided under a pre-approval policy adopted by
the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is informed at each
meeting of services approved by the chairman or provided under
the pre-approval policy. These procedures are intended to
safeguard auditor objectivity and independence.

The Audit Committee met on 4 occasions during 2003. Mr Ronald
Nordmann was the Chairman of the Audit Committee in 2003 and
Dr Barry Price and Dr James Cavanaugh were members of the
committee in 2003. All members attended all meetings in 2003.

Mr Nordmann has been a financial analyst for over 30 years 
and accordingly is considered by the Board to have recent 
and relevant financial experience.

ii) Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee determines on behalf of the 
Board the policy for the setting of remuneration and incentivisation
of the executive Directors and other senior executives and 
the fixing of the terms of their employment. The Remuneration
Committee may engage external consultants to advise on 
any aspects of remuneration. 

The remuneration of non-executive Directors is determined by 
the Board. 

The Directors’ remuneration report appears on pages 18 to 29
and provides further information on the role of this Committee.

The Remuneration Committee met on 10 occasions in 2003. 
Dr Barry Price chaired the Remuneration Committee in 2003 and
Dr James Cavanaugh was a member of this committee in 2003.
Mr Gérard Veilleux was a member until he stepped down from 
the Board on 10 May 2003. Mr Robin Buchanan joined the
Remuneration Committee on 30 July 2003. Mr Veilleux was unable
to attend 2 of the 6 Remuneration Committee meetings which
took place before he stepped down from the Board, but otherwise
all members attended all meetings.

iii) Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and
nominating, for the approval of the Board, candidates to fill
vacancies to the Board. This Committee meets as required and in
2003 was chaired by Dr James Cavanaugh. Mr Ronald Nordmann,
The Hon James Grant and Dr Barry Price also served on this
Committee in 2003. All members attended all meetings in 2003.

When considering appointments to the Board, the Nomination
Committee takes into account the skills, knowledge and
experience of the existing members of the Board and determines
the capabilities which are required of any new Director. The
Nomination Committee retains the services of executive search
consultants to assist it in the identification and nomination of 
new Board candidates. 

iv) Executive Committee
The Executive Committee has the day-to-day management of 
the Company delegated to it by the Board and operates within
clear and formal parameters. The Executive Committee meets 
at least monthly. The Chief Executive Officer is the Chairman of 
the Executive Committee, which in 2003 consisted of nine senior
executives including the three executive Directors. The Executive
Committee reports to and seeks guidance from the Board on a
regular basis.
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Director remuneration
The Company’s remuneration policy is described in the Directors’
remuneration report on pages 18 to 29. The report details the level
of remuneration for Directors and the basis upon which executive
remuneration is fixed.

Executive Remuneration
The remuneration of the members of the Executive Committee,
other than the executive Directors, is determined by the Chief
Executive Officer within policy guidelines set down by the
Remuneration Committee and is dependent on performance. 

Relations with shareholders
The Company is committed to maintaining constructive
relationships with shareholders. The Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Financial Officer, supported by other senior executives,
arrange individual and group meetings with major shareholders
throughout the year to discuss the Company’s strategy and
performance and to understand the views of major shareholders,
which are then communicated to the Board as a whole. The
Chairman and the senior independent non-executive Director 
also are available to meet with major shareholders.

The Company maintains a flow of information to its shareholders
through the announcement of quarterly results and the provision 
of annual reports. The Company’s website at www.shire.com also
provides information about the Company and its business and is
regularly updated. The Company’s Investor Relations department
acts as a contact point for investors throughout the year.

The Company holds its Annual General Meeting in London at
which shareholders are given the opportunity to ask questions 
of the Directors. 

Balanced and timely assessment of positions and prospects
The Company strives to give timely assessments of matters 
that impact on its business and financial position and to present
scientific and other price-sensitive data in a balanced way. Before
it was required under SEC rules, the Company voluntarily adopted
quarterly financial reporting, which is not obligatory in the UK. 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
The Company recognises the impact that its business may have
on people and the environment as well as the social implications
of its operations on the general community. The Company
therefore attaches great importance to social and environmental
issues and to ethical business practices. Accordingly, ultimate
responsibility for them is taken at the highest levels. The Board
reviews the Company’s approach to corporate social responsibility
generally and the specific business risks related to Social,
Environmental and Ethical (“SEE”) matters. 

The Board receives advice and information from the CSR
Committee to make this assessment. The CSR Committee, 
which is chaired by the Chief Financial Officer, was established
during 2003. It meets three times a year and is responsible for
setting the policies and procedures that manage SEE issues, 
risks and opportunities. SEE risks are managed within the 
overall framework of risk management, explained below 
under the heading ‘internal control’. 

This year the Company has decided to produce a standalone
report on CSR. This is available on request or from the 
Shire website.

Code of Ethics
The Company is committed to the maintenance of high ethical
standards in its dealings with all persons with whom it is involved.
The Group’s Code of Ethics was reviewed and updated in 
2003 and the amended version was approved by the Board in
December 2003. The Code of Ethics applies to all Directors and
employees and is available for review on the Company’s website. 

Financial disclosure, internal control and the role of the
auditors
The Board has, through the Audit Committee, established formal
and transparent arrangements for financial reporting, internal
control and external auditing. The Audit Committee’s terms of
reference extend to the Company’s risk management activities 
as a whole and not just the financial aspects of internal control. 

All employees can raise any concerns in any of these areas with
the Chairman of the Audit Committee in the strictest confidence.
The Company operates a whistle-blowing policy which is the
framework for a confidential process through which all employees
are able to report concerns relating to financial disclosure, internal
control and other compliance issues in good faith without fear 
of discrimination or reprisal. In addition, the Audit Committee 
has introduced a procedure for the receipt and monitoring of
complaints relating to internal controls.

i) Financial reporting
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the preparation of
accounts and for the monitoring of systems of internal financial
control. The Board strives to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and 
its prospects and endeavours to present scientific and other 
price-sensitive information in a balanced way. The Company
publishes quarterly financial reports so that its shareholders 
can monitor the Company’s financial position regularly.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has the responsibility
for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal financial
controls and the audit process. The Audit Committee has
independent access to the auditors throughout the year in 
addition to presentations from the auditors on a quarterly basis.
Any significant findings or identified risks are closely examined 
and are reported to the Board with recommendations for action.

The Company has established a Disclosure Committee which is
chaired by the Chief Financial Officer. Its membership comprises
senior managers from legal, finance and risk. Its responsibility is 
to establish and maintain controls and other procedures to ensure
that information disclosed to investors is recorded, summarised
and reported accurately and to monitor the effectiveness of these
procedures. The Disclosure Committee also has the responsibility
for review and oversight of the Company’s periodic reporting.
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Following the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002 in the
United States, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial
Officer are required to complete formal certifications, which
confirm, inter alia, that:

– the annual report in the United States on Form 10-K does 
not contain any material misstatements or omissions;

– financial information reported in Form 10-K fairly presents 
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
of the Company;

– the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer are
responsible for determining and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures; and

– the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer 
have indicated in Form 10-K whether there were any 
significant changes in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have
completed these certifications and they will be filed with the 
SEC in the United States as part of the Company's annual report
in the United States. Whilst there is no formal requirement for
these certifications to be given in connection with the accounts
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, the UK statutory financial
statements have been prepared using the same processes.

ii) Risk management and internal control
The Board, in accordance with the Turnbull Guidance on internal
control, recognises its overall responsibility to maintain a sound
system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investments
and the Company’s assets and to regularly review its effectiveness.
The Board has reviewed both the key risks faced by the Company
and the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems 
in 2003. 

Outside of its review, the Board delegates responsibility to the
Audit Committee for more regular review of both key risks and
internal controls and for monitoring the activities of the internal
audit function. The Audit Committee has kept these areas under
review in 2003.

The Company has an integrated risk management and internal
audit function. The Head of Risk and Audit, whose appointment
was confirmed by the Audit Committee, reports to the Chief
Financial Officer and attends and presents regularly at Audit
Committee meetings. The Head of Risk and Audit also has direct
access to the Chairman, the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
and the other members of the Audit Committee.

The Company has an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks that it faces. This process has
been in operation throughout the period under review and up to
the date of the signing of the accounts. This includes analysis 
of the impact on the operation of key risks and the action being
taken to avoid or reduce each risk. The risk schedule allocates
responsibility for management of each key risk to appropriate
senior executives. The Company also has a system of control
procedures. Compliance with these procedures is monitored
through a system of internal review and regular reports on financial
performance. Any significant issues arising are reported to the
Audit Committee.

The internal review of the Company’s control procedures and
compliance with them is mostly undertaken through internal audit.
The Company’s outsourced internal audit function was operational
throughout 2003. The majority of internal audit work during 2003
has been concentrated on internal financial controls and on
achieving compliance with Sarbanes-Oxley Act requirements,
which is required by 31 December 2004. This will continue in
2004. The Audit Committee, which is responsible for monitoring
the activity of the internal audit function, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal audit during 2003.

Although the Board and the Audit Committee receive reports 
on areas of significant risk to the Company and related internal
controls, there are limitations in any system of internal control 
and accordingly even the most effective system can provide 
only reasonable and not absolute assurance. Such a system 
is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

iii) External auditing 
The Audit Committee reviews the scope and results of the 
audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors, the cost
effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the auditors. 

Going concern basis
After making enquiries, the Directors have formed a judgement, 
at the time of approving the financial statements, that there is a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 
For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Dear Shareholder,
During the year ended 31 December 2003 the Remuneration
Committee continued its work on behalf of the Board on Directors’
remuneration. Following a process of consultation with some of
our major shareholders the Committee has made some changes
to its remuneration policy. Among these changes are:

– the introduction of new employment contracts for its executive
Directors which reduce the two-year termination provisions
following a change in control to one year; and

– reducing to one the number of opportunities for retesting the
performance conditions attached to the vesting of options.

The Company operates in a highly-competitive multinational
environment. In 2003, approximately 90% of Shire’s revenues 
and 80% of its employees were based outside the UK. Indeed
most of Shire’s revenues come from the US. The Committee has
never espoused a US pay policy but it does need to take this
operating environment into account. To give you a perspective on
the complexities we face, Matthew Emmens who was appointed
Chief Executive Officer in March 2003 is American. Although his
principal base with Shire is in the US and his home is in the US,
his remuneration is benchmarked against the UK market.

The Remuneration Committee is committed to a continuing
dialogue with shareholders and we strive to accommodate 
your views. I hope that this report and our conversations provide
helpful context and explanation about the policies and practical
considerations that influence our decisions.

In 2004, we will continue our work on remuneration policy. 
The Board will also review the Committee’s constitution to ensure
all members of the Committee are deemed to be independent 
as defined by the new Combined Code.

Dr Barry Price
Chairman of the Remuneration Committe

This Report sets out the Board’s approach to Directors’
remuneration. It complies with:

– the 1998 Combined Code’s Principles of Good Governance;
– the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002; and
– the requirements of the Listing Rules of the Financial Services

Authority.

The Board has taken steps to ensure that it complies during 
2004 with the new Combined Code published in 2003.

Unaudited Information
The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for all elements 
of the executive Directors’ remuneration, as well as their
performance management.

The Company considers all members of the Committee to 
be independent, although the constitution of the Committee 
will be reviewed in light of the new Combined Code in 2004. 
The Chief Executive Officer attends meetings of the Committee 
at its invitation, but is not involved in any discussions on his 
own remuneration.

The members of the Remuneration Committee during 2003 were:

– Dr Barry Price, who is the Senior Independent Director of the
Company and Chairman of the Committee;

– Dr James Cavanaugh, who is Chairman of the Company;
– Mr Robin Buchanan, who joined the Board and the Committee 

in July 2003 as an independent non-executive Director; and
– Mr Gérard Veilleux, who stepped down as a Board and

Committee member in May 2003.

The Remuneration Committee was materially assisted in 2003 by
Mr Christian Proulx, Senior VP Global Human Resources, Mr Jeff
Devlin, Director of Corporate Affairs and Ms Tatjana May, General
Counsel. The following external advisers were appointed by and
materially assisted the Committee:

– Towers Perrin, who also provided benefits advice in the UK 
and US;

– Slaughter and May, who provided general legal advice; and
– Deloitte & Touche LLP, the Company’s auditors, who provided

advice in relation to the Company’s long-term incentive plan 
and some aspects of Mr Stahel’s departure arrangements.
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Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Committee considers that an effective
remuneration policy is an important contributor to the Company’s
success. It directly impacts the Company’s ability to attract, retain
and motivate high-calibre executives who embody the Company’s
values and deliver value to shareholders.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for developing,
reviewing and implementing the Company’s compensation and
benefits policy. The current policy is intended to be durable and its
effectiveness is regularly monitored by the Remuneration Committee.

The policy is based on the following principles:

– Compensation is market-driven and benchmarked against the
FTSE 100, despite the fact that the majority of employees,
including the Chief Executive Officer, are US-based.

– The annual incentive plan is performance-related and is linked to
the achievement of an appropriate mix of Group and individual
performance targets. The Committee currently aims for the
performance-related elements of executive Director
compensation to represent over half of total remuneration.

– Share-based compensation is a key element of the Company’s
remuneration policy as it aligns the interests of the Company’s
executives with the interests of its shareholders.

– Compensation and benefits arrangements are clear and 
well understood.

The Remuneration Package
The main elements of the remuneration package for executive
Directors and senior management are:

1. Salary
2. Annual Incentive Plan
3. Share Options
4. Long Term Incentive Plan
5. Deferred Bonus Plan
6. Pension and other benefits

1. Salary
The Remuneration Committee reviews salaries annually. 
In doing so, it looks at a range of factors such as competitive
market data provided by independent external consultants, 
local market conditions, performance-related pay increases 
across the Company and individual skills and performance. 
The Remuneration Committee’s policy is for salary to be set at 
the median of the appropriate comparator group unless individual
performance and/or skills shortages require a different approach.

2. Annual Incentive Plan
Shire operates an annual incentive plan which rewards
performance. The plan is also designed to encourage executives
to meet “stretch” performance objectives at both the Group and
the personal level.

The Remuneration Committee sets individual executive Director
performance objectives as well as the Group objectives at the 
start of each financial year to ensure they are aligned. The Group
objectives apply to all employees participating in the Company’s
Annual Incentive Plan. Each objective, whether Group or personal,
is weighted and is described in specific terms with allocated
deadlines. The 2003 Group performance objectives included:
– growth in revenue;
– growth in net income;
– progression of R&D portfolio; and
– operational objectives.

The Remuneration Committee assesses performance against
objectives in the first quarter of the following year. The annual
bonus is payable in cash and is not pensionable. Target bonus 
is paid where executive Directors have fully achieved their
personal objectives and the Group objectives have been met in
full. Maximum bonus is paid only if the Remuneration Committee
determines that personal and/or Group performance has been
exceptional. Maximum bonus payments are capped at 100% of
salary for the Chief Executive Officer and 75% of salary for other
executive Directors. Details of the bonus structure and the
relative weighting of objectives between Group and personal
objectives are shown in the table below. The levels of target 
and maximum bonuses have been set in line with the
competitive market in the UK.

Maximum
Target bonus bonus Weighting of target 

(as a % of (as a % of bonus objectives
salary) salary) Group Personal

Mr Matthew Emmens 55% 100% 80% 20%
Chief Executive Officer

Mr Angus Russell 50% 75% 60% 40%
Chief Financial Officer

Dr Wilson Totten 50% 75% 60% 40%
Group R&D Director

The bonus awarded to the executive Directors for 2003 reflects the
Group and personal achievements and amounted to 53% of salary
for Mr Emmens, 50.5% of salary for Mr Russell and 47.9% of
salary for Dr Totten.
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3. Share Options
Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the Company’s
2000 Executive Share Option Scheme. Share options, which form
part of the executive Directors’ long-term compensation, are used
to align Directors’ interests with those of shareholders and to
promote sustained long-term Company performance.

The grant of options to executive Directors is wholly at the
discretion of the Remuneration Committee. In granting share
options, the Committee takes into account the advice and
recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer. The face value 
of options granted under the Scheme is normally capped at three
times salary per year for executive Directors and senior managers.
This annual grant level is competitive in the UK market and is
consistent with the emphasis the Company places on share-based
remuneration for its executives. In exceptional circumstances,
such as on the appointment of the new Chief Executive Officer,
Matthew Emmens, this grant level has been exceeded.

The current performance measure for the vesting of options was
introduced in 2002 following consultation with major institutional
shareholders. The performance tests for executive Directors’
options were toughened following this consultation process. The
performance tests are based on real growth in diluted earnings per
share (EPS) as measured by “diluted EPS” and as reported in the
Company’s Form 10-K under US GAAP. This measure is favoured
by the Remuneration Committee because it is transparent and a
highly relevant indicator of financial performance.

The minimum performance test attaching to the exercise of share
options for executive Directors is higher than for other employees.
No options vest unless Shire’s EPS meets the minimum growth
threshold set of 15% in excess of the Retail Price Index (RPI) (or
5% on average a year) in the three years following the date of
grant. In the case of an annual grant of options worth three times
salary, Shire’s EPS must grow by 21% in excess of RPI (or on
average 7% a year) in the three years following the date of grant
for all the options to vest.

Grant % of salary Three-year EPS growth

Up to 100% Retail Price Index (RPI) plus 15%
(for executive Directors)
(for all other employees it is RPI plus 9%)

101% to 200% RPI plus 15%

201% to 300% RPI plus 21%

Over 301% RPI plus 27%

The 2000 Executive Share Option Scheme, which was approved
by shareholders in 2000, contains an unlimited retesting feature
from the date of grant. The Remuneration Committee, after
consultation with some of its major institutional shareholders in
2003, has decided that, for options granted under the scheme
from 2004 onwards, the performance condition should be retested
once only, at five years after the grant. The retest will be applied
only where Shire’s EPS growth has not met the EPS test
described above. The annual average growth required over the
first three years must be achieved over the extended performance
period. Hence the level of EPS growth in the next two years needs
to be consequentially higher to meet the test.

The Committee is of the view that retesting should be retained on
this limited basis in order to maintain the Scheme’s international
competitiveness. In particular, the Committee is conscious of the
fact that performance tests are not attached to the vesting of
options in many markets and that, in the US, phased vesting 
of options is also common.

The Committee is aware that some shareholders oppose even
limited retesting and, as with all remuneration policy matters, 
will therefore keep this aspect of policy under review.

Any new option scheme established in the future will not contain 
a retesting feature.

The table below sets out the share options that were granted to
executive Directors during 2003.

Number of 
Executive Director and ordinary Exercise
share option scheme Date of grant shares Price £

Mr Matthew Emmens
2000 Executive Scheme 18.03.03 945,010 3.6825
Stock Purchase Plan 22.08.03 2,098 4.0900

Dr Wilson Totten
2000 Executive Scheme 04.03.03 301,775 3.3800

Mr Angus Russell
2000 Executive Scheme 04.03.03 284,024 3.3800

A grant of share options to Matthew Emmens was made on his
appointment as Chief Executive Officer. By UK standards it is
substantial, but it is considerably lower than he could have expected
on an annual basis in the US where options are typically granted
with no performance tests. For all his options to vest, Shire’s EPS
will need to increase by an average of 9% a year in excess of RPI.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are set out below
in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements. Performance
conditions attaching to previous executive option grants are
detailed on page 27 in the audited section of this Report.

Share options under the Stock Purchase Plan (see note (vi) on
page 27) are offered at a discount as permitted by paragraph
13.31 of the Listing Rules. Shares granted under the Stock
Purchase Plan are not performance-related.

4. Long Term Incentive Plan
The Long Term Incentive Plan (the Plan) was adopted at the
Company’s 1998 Annual General Meeting and amended in 2000.
Under the Plan, the Remuneration Committee has discretion to
make awards of shares subject to a maximum of 100% of salary a
year. Awards are made to executive Directors and senior managers.

The performance condition attached to the vesting of the 
share awards made under the Plan is Shire’s Total Shareholder
Return (TSR) relative to the FTSE 100 index over a three-year
period. The Remuneration Committee considers this to be 
an appropriate measure given that Shire is a member of 
the FTSE 100 and the same comparator group is used for
remuneration benchmarking purposes.
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Under the Plan:

– all shares vest if Shire’s TSR is in the top 10% of the FTSE 100;
– 20% of the shares vest if Shire’s TSR is at the median of the

FTSE 100, with vesting between these points on a linear
basis; and

– no shares vest if Shire’s TSR is below the median of the
FTSE 100.

The Remuneration Committee determines whether and to what
extent the performance condition has been met on the basis of
data provided by an independent third party. To date, all awards
made under the Plan have been made as a “conditional
allocation”, thereby allowing, at the Remuneration Committee’s
discretion, for a cash equivalent to be paid on maturity of the
award. Whilst the performance period is measured over three
years, an award is normally transferred after the fourth anniversary
of grant to the extent the performance condition has been met.

Directors were granted awards under the Plan in 2003 as a
“conditional allocation”, (as defined in the Plan), as follows:

Earliest date
Value of Total on which an 

conditional number of award can be
Date of award at ordinary transferred to
award grant date shares a Director

Mr Matthew Emmens 20.03.03 £290,000 80,960 21.03.07

Dr Wilson Totten 20.03.03 £170,000 47,459 21.03.07

Mr Angus Russell 20.03.03 £160,000 44,667 21.03.07

5. Deferred Bonus Plan
Following consultation with some of its major shareholders and 
the subsequent revision of the design of the Plan, the Company
asked shareholders in 2003 to approve a Deferred Bonus Plan in
which executive Directors can participate. This Plan provides for
participants to use up to 50% of their annual bonus to buy shares
in the Company. The Company will match any shares bought, but
the matched shares will vest for executive Directors only if the
Company’s EPS grows by more than 15% in excess of RPI over 
a three-year period (9% in excess of RPI for other employees).
Diluted EPS was chosen since it is consistent with the minimum
performance test that applies to the vesting of options – see
above.

The Remuneration Committee believes that this Plan will 
deliver value to shareholders by encouraging executive share
ownership. The Committee is committed to aligning executive 
and shareholder interests and is considering the introduction 
of a shareholding policy.

6. Pension and other benefits
The Company’s policy is to ensure that pension benefits are
competitive in the markets in which Shire operates. Shire
contributes 30% of the Chief Executive Officer’s annual salary 
to a SERP and 401 (K) Plan in the US. In the UK, Shire operates 
a defined contribution scheme. The Company contributes 25% 
of salary for the Chief Financial Officer and Group R&D Director 
to pension benefits. These rates are in line with market practice 
for FTSE 100 companies. The implications of the forthcoming
pension tax reforms will be considered during the course of the year.

In addition to salary, the executive Directors receive certain
benefits in kind, principally a car or car allowance, life insurance,
private medical insurance and dental cover. These benefits are 
not pensionable.

Service Contracts
The Committee has made some policy changes to its executive
Director contracts of employment following consultation with some
of the Company’s major shareholders in 2003. New contracts for
the Company’s executive Directors have been prepared and
contain the following changes:

– a reduction in the amount payable in the event of termination of
employment within twelve months of a change of control. The
amount payable is reduced from two years’ to one year’s salary
and the cash equivalent of one year’s pension, car and other
contractual benefits. Any bonus payable is at the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee and is capped at the contractual
maximum bonus; and

– the amount of bonus payable upon termination of employment in
other circumstances, other than for cause, is at the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee and is capped at the contractual
target bonus.

The Remuneration Committee’s policy continues to be that
executive Directors’ service contracts should be for a rolling term
and, for UK contracts, incorporate notice periods of 12 months.
The Committee also believes that the Company should retain 
the right to make a payment in lieu of notice to a Director. The
obligations on the executive Directors in respect of intellectual
property remain in place together with the post-termination
restrictions. The Committee’s view is that in the event of early
termination executive Directors should be treated fairly but paid 
no more than is necessary. Moreover, there should be no element
of reward for failure.

The executive Directors’ contracts of employment, which were
revised to reflect the changes noted above, are dated 10 March
2004 in the case of each of Mr Russell and Dr Totten and 12
March 2004 in the case of Mr Emmens. The contract for Mr
Stahel, the previous Chief Executive Officer, was dated 28
February 2003. Mr Russell’s and Dr Totten’s contracts require 
them to give the Company 12 months’ notice and expire on 
them reaching 65. Mr Emmens’ contract requires him to give the
Company 6 months’ notice and no age is specified for retirement.
The Company is required to give Mr Russell and Dr Totten 12
months’ notice of termination, other than if termination is for
cause, whereas it is not obliged to give Mr Emmens any notice.
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Non-executive Directors and the Chairman
Each non-executive Director is paid a fee for serving as a Director
and additional fees are paid for membership or Chairmanship 
of the Audit, Remuneration and/or Nomination Committee. 
The Chairman of the Company receives a separate fee. Fees 
are determined by the Board and are benchmarked against 
non-executive Director fees of comparable companies. Details 
of fees paid to the Chairman and non-executive Directors in 
2003 are set out in the table on page 23.

The fees paid to non-executive Directors are not performance-
related. Non-executive Directors do not participate in any of the
Company share schemes or other employee benefit schemes and
no options have been granted to non-executive Directors in their
capacity as non-executive Directors of Shire. Neither the Chairman
nor the non-executive Directors are eligible to join the Company’s
pension scheme.

The Hon James Grant holds share options relating to his service
with Shire BioChem, which merged with Shire. The grant of 
these options was made on the same terms as applied to other
employees, at the time, including that these options are not
subject to any performance conditions.

The Chairman and the non-executive Directors have letters of
appointment detailing their specific terms of engagement which,
other than for Dr Price, are for a two-year term which may be
renewed. Dr Price’s reappointment in January 2004 is for a one-
year term which may be renewed. Details of the unexpired terms
of the letters of appointment and notice periods are as follows:

Date of Date of Notice
Director appointment term expiry period

Dr James Cavanaugh 24.03.03 23.03.05 3 months

Dr Barry Price 25.01.04 24.01.05 3 months

The Hon James Grant 11.05.03 10.05.05 3 months

Mr Ronald Nordmann 23.12.03 22.12.05 3 months

Mr Robin Buchanan 30.07.03 29.07.05 3 months

Related party transactions
Details of transactions relating to Mr John Spitznagel, a former
non-executive Director who entered into a consultancy agreement
with the Company, and The Hon James Grant, who is a partner 
of a Canadian law firm with which the Company incurred
professional fees during the year, are given in the Directors’ 
report on pages 12 and 13.

Performance graph
The graph below sets out the Total Shareholder Return (TSR) for
the five years ending 31 December 2003. The graph compares the
performance of a holding of the Company’s shares with that of a
holding of shares in the FTSE UK Pharma and Biotech Index over
the relevant period, calculated in accordance with the Directors’
Remuneration Report Regulations 2002. The FTSE UK Pharma
and Biotech Index has been selected to show shareholders how
Shire’s TSR has performed relative to other companies in its sector
over a five year period.

Five Year Historical TSR Performance Change in the Value 
of a Hypothetical £100 Holding Over Five Years. FTSE UK 
Pharma and Biotech Index Comparison Based on Spot Values.
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Termination payments
Mr Rolf Stahel stepped down as Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company in March 2003. As was disclosed in the 2002
Remuneration Report, the Board decided to pay Mr Stahel in
accordance with the payment in lieu of notice provisions in his
contract of employment. The compensation for loss of office
payment, equating to his contractual entitlement, amounted to
£1,335,169. In the view of the Remuneration Committee and the
Board this payment was justified given Mr Stahel’s contract was
terminated not for any failure on his part but rather because the
Board had reached the view that shareholders would benefit from
the appointment of a successor who could lead the Company 
to its next stage of development.

Details of Mr Stahel’s options, LTIP awards, emoluments for 2003
and pension contributions are set out in the next part of this
report, under Audited Information. 

Other remuneration
Mr Russell was appointed as a non-executive Director of The City
of London Investment Trust plc (and its associated companies,
The City of London European Trust Limited, The City of London
Investments Limited and The City of London Finance Company
Limited) during 2003. In this capacity, he was paid £16,000. Mr
Russell will retain this remuneration.
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Audited information
Aggregate Directors’ Remuneration
The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration were as follows:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Emoluments 2,256 2,300
Money purchase pension contributions 4,676 383
Gains on exercise of share options 114 2,962
Amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 276 –
Compensation for loss of office 1,335 –

8,657 5,645

Directors’ emoluments

Cash Non-cash
benefits benefits Total Total

Salary Bonuses Fees in kind in kind 2003 2002
Director £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Executive
Mr Matthew Emmens (ii) (i) 446 235 – 14 4 699 –
Mr Angus Russell 320 162 – 10 7 499 444
Dr Wilson Totten 340 163 – 11 17 531 481
Mr Rolf Stahel (iii) 154 124 – – 33 311 1,144

1,260 684 – 35 61 2,040 2,069

Non-executive
Dr James Cavanaugh – – 54 – – 54 45
Dr Barry Price – – 43 – – 43 37
The Hon James Grant – – 35 – – 35 30
Mr Ronald Nordmann – – 45 – – 45 34
Mr Robin Buchanan (iv) – – 16 – – 16 –
Dr Francesco Bellini (v) – – 11 – – 11 30
Mr Gérard Veilleux (v) – – 12 – – 12 32
The late Dr Bernard Canavan – – – – – – 23

– – 216 – – 216 231

Total 1,260 684 216 35 61 2,256 2,300

(i) Paid in US$, Mr Emmens’ annual salary in 2003 was $935,018
(ii) Appointed 12 March 2003
(iii) Stepped down on 19 March 2003
(iv) Appointed 30 July 2003
(v) Stepped down on 10 May 2003

The Remuneration Committee and the Board awarded Mr Stahel the maximum pro rated bonus for the part of 2003 he worked prior 
to his departure in March 2003.

Cash benefits in kind represent expense allowances (including dental costs) and non-cash benefits represent emoluments. 
Non-cash benefits in kind consist of a car and private medical insurance.

Details of exercise of share options are disclosed on pages 25 and 26. Non-executive Director remuneration is to/from the date 
of resignation/appointment.
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Directors’ pension entitlements
The following Directors are members of money purchase
schemes. Contributions paid by the Company in respect of 2003
were as follows:

2003 2002
Name of Director £’000 £’000

Mr Matthew Emmens 138 –
Mr Angus Russell 80 56
Dr Wilson Totten 85 46
Mr Rolf Stahel 4,347 216
(stepped down on 19 March 2003)
Dr Francesco Bellini 26 65
(stepped down on 10 May 2003)

4,676 383

The 2002 Remuneration Report disclosed that the Remuneration
Committee and the Board decided, in recognition of Mr Stahel’s
exceptional services to the Company over the nine years of his
employment, to make an additional one-off payment to a defined
contribution pension arrangement for Mr Stahel of £4.3 million.

The pension payment to Dr Bellini, the former chief executive 
of BioChem Pharma Inc., arose from Dr Bellini’s termination
arrangement, which was based on his pre-merger employment
contract. The Company’s obligation to make pension payments 
to Dr Bellini ended on 13 May 2003.

Directors’ shareholdings* 
Directors who held office at the end of the year had interests in 
the share capital of the Company as follows:

31 December 31 December
Notes 2003 2002 

Dr James Cavanaugh (i) 8,806,368 8,806,368
Mr Matthew Emmens – –
Mr Angus Russell – –
Dr Wilson Totten 6,061 6,061
Dr Barry Price 31,350 31,350
The Hon James Grant (ii) 4,551 4,551
Mr Ronald Nordmann 46,968 46,968
Mr Robin Buchanan – –

*All interests are beneficial unless otherwise stated.

Notes
(i) Dr Cavanaugh is President of HealthCare Ventures LLC, which is

the management company for a number of limited partnerships,
which have interests in 8,690,090 ordinary shares. Dr Cavanaugh
is also the beneficial owner of 116,278 ordinary shares.

(ii) On 9 June 2003 The Hon James Grant exercised an option
granted to him under the BioChem Stock Option Plan for
31,859 shares at the option price of £1.25 per share. All these
shares were sold on the same day at a price of £4.17 per share.

Directors’ share options
Aggregate emoluments disclosed above do not include any
amounts for the value of options to acquire ordinary shares 
in the Company granted to or held by the Directors. 

Directors and employees have been granted options over ordinary
shares under the Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc 2000 Executive
Share Option Scheme (Parts A and B) (2000 Executive Scheme),
the Shire Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (SHL Scheme),
the Pharmavene 1991 Stock Option Plan (SLI Plan), the Shire
Pharmaceuticals Executive Share Option Scheme (Parts A and B)
(Executive Scheme), the Shire Pharmaceuticals Sharesave
Scheme (Sharesave Scheme), the Shire Pharmaceuticals Group
plc Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Stock Purchase Plan), the
Roberts Stock Option Plan (Roberts Plan) and the BioChem 
Stock Option Plan (BioChem Plan).
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Details of the options exercised during the year (with prior-year comparatives) are as follows:

Market price Gains on Gains on
Exercise at exercise exercise exercise

Number price date 2003 2002
Director Scheme of options £ £ £’000 £’000

Mr Rolf Stahel SHL 89,840 1.00 6.020 – 451
89,840 1.00 6.020 – 451
89,840 1.00 6.020 – 451
90,160 1.00 3.887 – 260
90,160 1.00 3.887 – 260
90,160 1.00 3.887 – 260

Executive Scheme B 329,095 1.75 3.887 – 703
Executive Scheme A 13,761 2.18 3.680 21 –

21 2,836

The Hon James Grant BioChem Plan 31,859 2.08 6.032 – 126
31,859 1.25 4.175 93 –

93 126

114 2,962

Details of options for Directors who served during the year are as follows:

Number of ordinary shares Exercise dates

At At Exercise
1 January 31 December price

Director Scheme Notes 2003 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2003 £ Earliest Latest

Mr Matthew Emmens 2000 
Executive 
Scheme B (iv) – 945,010 – – 945,010 3.6825 18.03.06 17.03.13
Stock
Purchase Plan (vi) – 2,098 – – 2,098 4.0900 22.11.05 22.11.05

– 947,108 – – 947,108

Mr Angus Russell Executive 
Scheme A (i) 4,181 – – – 4,181 7.1750 13.12.02 12.12.09

Executive (i) 45,819 – – – 45,819 7.1750 13.12.02 12.12.06
Scheme B 6,422 – – – 6,422 10.2750 01.03.03 28.02.07

2000 Executive (iv) 69,213 – – – 69,213 12.5700 05.06.04 04.06.11
Scheme B 114,474 – – – 114,474 5.0650 04.03.05 03.03.12

– 284,024 – – 284,024 3.3800 04.03.06 03.03.13

Sharesave (ii) 1,882 – – – 1,882 5.0200 01.12.05 31.05.06

241,991 284,024 – – 526,015

Dr Wilson Totten Executive 
Scheme A (i) 8,862 – – – 8,862 3.3850 09.02.01 08.02.08

Executive (i) 141,138 – – – 141,138 3.3850 09.02.01 08.02.05
Scheme B 25,000 – – – 25,000 4.7050 12.05.02 11.05.06

16,995 – – – 16,995 10.2750 01.03.03 28.02.07

2000 Executive (iv) 63,242 – – – 63,242 12.8000 03.08.03 02.08.10
Scheme B 73,986 – – – 73,986 12.5700 05.06.04 04.06.11

122,368 – – – 122,368 5.0650 04.03.05 03.03.12
301,775 – – 301,775 3.3800 04.03.06 03.03.13

Sharesave (ii) 1,882 – – – 1,882 5.0200 01.12.05 31.05.06

453,473 301,775 – – 755,248
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Number of ordinary shares Exercise dates

At At Exercise
1 January 31 December price

Director Scheme Notes 2003 Granted Exercised Lapsed 2003 £ Earliest Latest

Mr Rolf Stahel Executive 
Scheme A (i) 13,761 – (13,761) – – 2.1800 15.02.99 14.02.06

Executive (i) (iii) 81,918 – – – 81,918 3.3850 19.03.04 17.09.06
Scheme B (i) (iii) 54,189 – – – 54,189 10.2750 19.03.04 17.09.06

2000 Executive (iii) 34,241 – – – 34,241 12.8000 19.03.03 18.03.04
Scheme B (iii) 126,492 – – – 126,492 12.5700 18.03.04 04.12.04

(iii) 209,211 – – – 209,211 5.0650 18.09.03 03.09.05

Sharesave (ii) 1,151 – – (1,151) – 8.4100 01.12.04 31.05.05

520,963 – (13,761) (1,151) 506,051

The Hon James Grant BioChem (v) 31,859 – (31,859) – – 1.2500 14.05.01 16.06.03
31,859 – – – 31,859 1.2400 14.05.01 26.06.04
31,859 – – – 31,859 2.5000 14.05.01 06.06.05
31,859 – – – 31,859 6.2600 14.05.01 04.06.06
2,275 – – – 2,275 6.2000 14.05.01 05.05.07
2,275 – – – 2,275 6.9400 14.05.01 20.04.08
7,964 – – – 7,964 5.7000 14.05.01 10.06.09

13,653 – – – 13,653 6.5800 14.05.01 23.05.10

153,603 – (31,859) – 121,744

Dr Francesco Bellini BioChem (v) 3,413,550 – – – 3,413,550 7.1200 14.05.01 28.01.07

3,413,550 – – – 3,413,550

Mr Gérard Veilleux BioChem (v) 10,003 – – – 10,003 6.6000 14.05.01 18.07.09

10,003 – – – 10,003

For those options, which remained unexercised during the year, no payment was made by any Director in consideration of the 
grant award.

There have been no variations to the terms and conditions or performance criteria for share options during the financial year except 
as detailed in the notes below.
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Notes:
i) Options granted under the Executive Scheme are subject to

performance criteria and cannot be exercised in full, unless 
the Company’s share price increases at a compound rate 
of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year
measurement period. If the Company’s share price increases
at a compound rate of 14.5% per annum over a minimum
three-year measurement period, 60% of the options may be
exercised. If these conditions are not met after the initial three
years, they are thereafter tested quarterly by reference to share
price growth over the extended period. If the share price does
not meet these conditions at any time, none of the options will
become exercisable.

ii) Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme are granted
with an exercise price equal to 80% of the mid-market 
price on the day before invitations are issued to employees.
Employees may enter into three or five-year savings contracts.
The exercise of options under this Scheme is not subject to
any performance criteria.

iii) In connection with the termination of Mr Stahel’s employment,
the Remuneration Committee agreed to exercise its discretion
under the Rules of the respective option schemes to allow 
Mr Stahel to retain these options for a phased period of time
of up to 21/2 years following his termination date as set out in
the table above. Mr Stahel’s options may not be exercised if
he is in breach of certain post termination restrictive covenants
and/or if he engages in activity detrimental to the Company
over that period.

iv) Options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme vest six
weeks prior to the expiry date. Options granted under the 
2000 Executive Scheme following the Company’s 2000 Annual
General Meeting, are subject to performance criteria and
cannot be exercised in full, unless the Company’s share price
increases at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum
over a minimum three-year period. If the Company’s share
price increases at a compound rate of at least 14.5% per
annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, 60%
of the options will be exercisable. If these conditions are not
met after the initial three-year measurement period, they will
thereafter be tested quarterly by reference to compound
annual share price growth over an extended period. If the
share price does not meet these conditions at any time, 
none of these options will become exercisable.

At the Annual General Meeting of the Company, held on 5
June 2001, a resolution was passed to permit the grant of
options under the 2000 Executive Scheme to be made subject
to performance criteria being satisfied prior to the date of
grant. Subsequent to the passing of this resolution options
have been granted based on a performance criteria being
satisfied before grant namely that the Company’s share price
had increased by an annualised compound rate of 20.5% over
a minimum three-year period.

During 2002, the performance criteria were again reviewed to
ensure the criteria reflected the market in which the Company
operates. Given the Company’s development it was felt
appropriate that an EPS based measure should be adopted 
in place of share price growth targets. Therefore option grants
made from August 2002 onwards will only become exercisable
in full if the Company’s EPS growth exceeds the RPI over a
three-year period for the following tranches of grants:

Options with a grant value RPI plus 9% 
of up to 100% of salary (Directors, RPI plus 15%)

Between 101% and
200% of salary RPI plus 15% 

Between 201% and
300% of salary RPI plus 21% 

Over 301% of salary RPI plus 27%

The adoption of the new performance criteria applies to 
all options granted from August 2002 onwards. The 2000
Executive Scheme provides for the performance test to be
reapplied annually from a fixed point until the option expires.
The Remuneration Committee agreed at the end of 2003 
that, from 2004, for future grants under the Scheme, the
performance condition should be retested once only, 
five years after the grant. 

v) Following the acquisition of BioChem on 11 May 2001, the
BioChem Plan was amended such that options over BioChem’s
common stock became options over ordinary shares of 
the Company. All BioChem options, which were not already
exercisable, vested and became exercisable as a result of 
the acquisition and were not subject to any performance
conditions. It is intended that no further options will be 
granted under the BioChem Plan.

vi) Under the Stock Purchase Plan options are granted with an
exercise price equal to 85% of the fair market value of a share
on the enrolment date (the first day of the offering period) 
or the exercise date (the last day of the offering period),
whichever is the lower. The offering period is for 27 months.
The exercise of options under this plan are not subject to 
any performance condition.

The market price of the ordinary shares at 31 December 2003
was £5.42 and the range during the year was £2.93 to £5.42.
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Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)
Long Term Incentive Plan maturities during the year 2003 are as follows:

Value of Actual Market
award at performance price at Value at

Date of Initial award grant date related maturity maturity Date of
Director award made £ award £ £ maturity

Mr Angus Russell 13.12.99 12,436 90,000 9,203 4.90 45,141 13.12.03
Dr Wilson Totten 08.04.99 15,255 71,000 11,289 4.13 46,624 08.03.03
Mr Rolf Stahel (i) 08.04.99 32,230 150,000 23,850 3.68 87,828 18.03.03

01.03.00 35,785 360,050 26,084 3.68 96,054 18.03.03

Total 275,647

Note (i)
On Mr Stahel’s termination of employment, the Remuneration Committee determined in accordance with the LTIP Rules in respect 
of the 1999 and 2000 Awards to make a cash equivalent payment to Mr Stahel on the basis of an LTIP Award of:

(a) 23,850 shares under the 1999 LTIP Award 
(b) 26,084 shares under the 2000 LTIP Award.

The Remuneration Committee further determined that Mr Stahel’s 2001 and 2002 LTIP awards would lapse and no payment would be
made to Mr Stahel in respect of either of them.

In addition to the above disclosure, the following Directors who served during the year under review have exercised the following long 
term incentive awards during the period between 1 January 2004 and 12 March 2004.

Long Term Incentive Plan maturities

Value of Actual
award at performance Value at

Date of Initial award grant date related maturity Date of
Director award made £ award £ maturity

Mr Angus Russell (i) 01.03.00 1,789 18,000 1,296 7,147 02.03.04
Dr Wilson Totten (i) 01.03.00 19,881 200,032 14,398 79,404 02.03.04

Note (i)
For awards made under the LTIP prior to June 2001, performance is measured over a three-year period but the performance conditions 
are based on criteria of (i) 50% TSR benchmarked against FTSE mid-250 index and (ii) 50% subject to an EPS condition measured 
against the diluted EPS of the Company for the financial year ended before the commencement of the performance period and the 
diluted EPS of the Company for the financial year ended on or before the end of the performance period.
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Details of current and outstanding awards under the long term incentive plan for Directors who served during the year are as follows:

Ordinary Value of Ordinary Earliest date
shares at award at shares at on which an

1 January Date of Award made grant date 31 December award can
Director 2003 award 20.03.03 £’000 2003 be made

Mr Matt Emmens – – 80,960 290 80,960 20.03.07

80,960 290 80,960

Mr Angus Russell 1,789 01.03.00 – 18 1,789 01.03.04
11,535 05.06.01 – 134 11,535 05.06.05
19,078 04.03.02 – 127 19,078 04.03.06

– 44,667 160 44,667 20.03.07

32,402 44,667 439 77,069

Dr Wilson Totten 19,881 01.03.00 – 200 19,881 01.03.04
12,330 05.06.01 – 144 12,330 05.06.05
20,394 04.03.02 – 136 20,394 04.03.06

– 47,459 170 47,459 20.03.07

52,605 47,459 650 100,064

Mr Rolf Stahel 21,081 05.06.01 – 246 – 05.06.05
See note (i) 34,868 04.03.02 – 232 – 04.03.06

55,949 – 478

The above awards made during the year were all at the price of £3.58 per share. Performance conditions attaching to awards made 
under the Long Term Incentive Plan are detailed on pages 20 and 21.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Barry Price
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
United Kingdom company law requires the Directors to prepare
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at
the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that period. In preparing those financial statements, the
Directors are required to:

– select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently;

– make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; and

– state whether applicable accounting standards have 
been followed.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure that
the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for the system of internal control, for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other irregularities.

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members
of Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc:
We have audited the financial statements of Shire Pharmaceuticals
Group plc for the year ended 31 December 2003 which comprise
the consolidated profit and loss account, the balance sheets, the
consolidated cash flow statement, the consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses and the related notes 1 to 29.
These financial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out therein. We have also audited the
information in the part of the Directors’ remuneration report that 
is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the Company’s members those matters we are required to state 
to them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors
As described in the Statement of Directors' responsibilities, 
the Company’s Directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom law and accounting standards. They are also responsible
for the preparation of the other information contained in the 
annual report including the Directors’ remuneration report. 
Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the 
part of the Directors’ remuneration report described as having
been audited in accordance with relevant United Kingdom legal 
and regulatory requirements and auditing standards.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report
described as having been audited have been properly prepared 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report if, 
in our opinion, the Directors’ report is not consistent with the
financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper
accounting records, if we have not received all the information 
and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and
transactions with the Company and other members of 
the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects
the Company’s compliance with the seven provisions of the
Combined Code, issued in 1998, specified for our review by the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report 
if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the Board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or 
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate
governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the Directors’ report and the other information contained
in the annual report for the above year as described in the
contents section including the unaudited part of the Directors’
remuneration report and consider the implications for our report 
if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom
auditing standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An
audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant 
to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 
the part of the Directors’ remuneration report described as having
been audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant
estimates and judgements made by the Directors in the preparation
of the financial statements and of whether the accounting policies
are appropriate to the Company’s circumstances, of the Group
and the Company, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
remuneration report described as having been audited are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error. In forming our opinion, we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report
described as having been audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:
– the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of

affairs of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2003
and of the loss of the Group for the year then ended; and

– the financial statements and part of the Directors’ remuneration
report described as having been audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Reading
12 March 2004
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Consolidated profit and loss account

2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000

Turnover: Group and share of joint venture 764,662 697,314
Less: share of joint venture’s turnover (3,594) (762)

Continuing operations 761,068 696,552
Discontinued operations – 15,975

Group turnover (2) 761,068 712,527
Cost of sales (2) (102,384) (95,042)

Gross profit 658,684 617,485
Net operating expenses (2003: including £426,362,000
exceptional goodwill impairment, 2002: £613,983,000) (2) (958,619) (1,150,630)
Other operating income (14) 698 –

Operating loss (3) (299,237) (533,145)

Continuing operations – Group (299,237) (541,603)
Discontinued operations – 8,458

(299,237) (533,145)

Share of joint venture’s operating loss (15) (2,806) (559)
Finance charges, net (6) 3,702 6,931

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (2) (298,341) (526,773)
Tax on loss on ordinary activities (7) (65,014) (61,626)

Retained loss for the year transferred from reserves (24) (363,355) (588,399)

Loss per share
Basic (9) (72.9)p (117.5)p
Diluted (9) (72.9)p (117.5)p

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated profit and loss account. 

Statement of total recognised gains and losses

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Loss for the year (363,355) (588,399)
Translation of the financial statements of overseas subsidiaries (24) (47,157) (62,739)

Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year (410,512) (651,138)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses. 

Consolidated profit and loss account – Statement of total recognised gains and losses

for the year ended 31 December 2003
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31 December 2003

Balance sheets

Consolidated Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Fixed assets
Intangible assets – intellectual property 10 171,548 183,404 19,330 21,390
Intangible assets – goodwill 11 1,365,583 1,900,896 – –
Tangible assets 12 97,054 84,001 7,924 3,641
Fixed asset investments 13 33,269 37,345 3,419,751 3,435,891
Investment in joint ventures
– share of gross assets 15 – 5,082 – –
– share of gross liabilities 15 – (342) – –

1,667,454 2,210,386 3,447,005 3,460,922

Current assets
Stocks 16 25,282 30,571 – –
Debtors
– due within one year excluding deferred tax 18 141,046 106,125 100,355 105,380
– due within one year – deferred tax 17 36,049 21,646 – –
– due after more than one year excluding deferred tax 18 9,224 9,535 – –
– due after more than one year – deferred tax 17 – 3,861 – –
Current asset investments 19 169,895 196,364 – –
Cash at bank and in hand 621,670 558,432 494,665 346,328

1,003,166 926,534 595,020 451,708

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 20 (141,722) (131,885) (251,040) (225,307)

Net current assets 861,444 794,649 343,980 226,401

Total assets less current liabilities 2,528,898 3,005,035 3,790,985 3,687,323
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Convertible debt 21 (202,659) (243,547) – –
Deferred tax 17 (782) – – –
Other creditors 21 (16,957) (13,782) (206,459) (252,294)

(220,398) (257,329) (206,459) (252,294)

Net assets 2,308,500 2,747,706 3,584,526 3,435,029 

Capital and reserves

Called-up share capital 23 23,895 24,217 23,895 24,217
Share premium 24 3,218,695 3,214,512 3,219,636 3,215,437
Exchangeable shares 24 190,425 191,552 190,425 191,552
Capital reserve 24 3,135 2,755 2,054 1,674
Other reserves 24 24,247 24,247 18,079 18,079
Profit and loss account 24 (1,151,897) (709,577) 130,437 (15,930)

Equity shareholders’ funds

25 2,308,500 2,747,706 3,584,526 3,435,029

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these balance sheets.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2004 and signed on its behalf by:

A C Russell
Director
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Consolidated cash flow statement

2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 28a 280,275 302,321

Returns on investments and servicing of finance:
Interest and other income received 13,165 15,434
Interest paid (9,404) (8,458)
Interest element of finance lease rentals (59) (45)

Net cash inflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance 3,702 6,931

Taxation:
Overseas corporation tax paid (66,874) (73,145)

Capital expenditure and financial investments:
Purchase of long-term investment (3,447) (2,957)
Purchase of intangible fixed assets (30,238) (15,470)
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (31,400) (15,014)
Proceeds from sale of a business 559 44,103
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 1,060 542

Net cash inflow for capital expenditure and financial investments (63,466) 11,204

Acquisitions and disposals:
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking – (11,647)
Expenses of acquisitions – (235)
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings – 33

Net cash outflow from acquisitions – (11,849)

Cash inflow before management of liquid resources and financing 153,637 235,462

Management of liquid resources:
Increase in cash placed on short-term deposit 28b 17,848 254,561

Financing:
Exercise of share options 3,114 3,985
Repurchase of ordinary share capital (31,808) –
Capital element of finance leases 28b (160) (74)
Net decrease in debt during the year 28b (18,053) (832)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing (46,907) 3,079

Increase in cash in the year 28b 124,578 493,102

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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34 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and under United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP). The particular accounting policies adopted by the Directors, all of which have been applied
consistently throughout the year and the preceding year, are described below. 

(a) Accounting convention
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

(b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc and all its subsidiary
undertakings drawn up to 31 December each year.

(c) Acquisitions and disposals
On the acquisition of a business, including an interest in an associated undertaking, fair values are attributed to the Group’s share of net
separable assets. Where the cost of the acquisition exceeds the fair values attributable to such net assets, the difference is treated as
purchased goodwill and capitalised in the balance sheet in the year of acquisition. Prior to the implementation of FRS 10 (in the year
ended 31 December 1998), purchased goodwill was written-off directly to reserves and has not been reinstated.

The profit or loss on the disposal of a previously acquired business includes the attributable amount of any purchased goodwill relating
to that business not previously charged through the profit and loss account.

The results and cash flows relating to a business are included in the consolidated profit and loss account and the consolidated cash
flow statement from the date of acquisition up to the date of disposal.

(d) Intangible assets – goodwill
For the acquisition of a business, including an interest in an associated undertaking, purchased goodwill is capitalised in the year in
which it arises and amortised over its estimated useful economic life up to a maximum of 20 years. The Directors regard 20 years as 
a reasonable maximum for the estimated useful economic life of goodwill since it is difficult to make projections exceeding this period.
Provision is made for any impairment. The asset is deemed to be impaired to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount. The impairment is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Capitalised purchased goodwill in respect of subsidiaries is included within intangible assets. Capitalised purchased goodwill relating 
to associates is included within the carrying value of the associate. Goodwill which arose on the acquisition of a business, prior to the
implementation of FRS 10 which was written-off to the profit and loss reserve as a matter of accounting policy, remains eliminated in
that reserve and will be charged or credited in the profit and loss account as appropriate on the subsequent disposal of the business 
to which it relates.

(e) Intangible assets – intellectual property
Intellectual property, including trademarks, for products with an immediate defined revenue stream and acquired for valuable consideration,
is capitalised and amortised in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful life of the product (generally not exceeding 20 years).
Intellectual property with no defined revenue stream is written-off on acquisition. Provision is made for any impairment.

(f) Tangible assets
Depreciation is not provided on freehold land. All other tangible fixed assets are shown at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis at rates calculated to write-off the cost less estimated residual
value of each asset over its estimated useful life at the following annual rates:

Freehold buildings 2–5 % per annum
Office furniture and fittings 10–25 % per annum
Equipment and other 10–25 % per annum

(g) Investments
Except as stated below, investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for any impairment.

In the consolidated accounts, shares in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. The consolidated profit and loss
account includes the Group’s share of pre-tax profits and attributable taxation of the joint ventures based on audited financial
statements for the financial year. In the consolidated balance sheet, the investment in joint ventures is shown as the Group’s share 
of the net assets of the joint ventures. 

In the Company balance sheet, for investments in subsidiaries acquired for consideration including the issue of shares qualifying for
merger relief, advantage has not been taken of this relief and the share premium of the shares issued has been included in the cost.

Current asset investments are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
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(h) Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost incurred in bringing each product to its present location and
condition is based on purchase costs calculated on a first-in, first-out basis, including transport.

Net realisable value is based on estimated normal selling price less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal.
Provision is made for obsolete, slow moving or defective items where appropriate.

(i) Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is provided in full on timing differences which result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to pay more tax, or a right to
pay less tax, at a future date, at rates expected to apply when they crystallise based on current tax rates and law. Timing differences
arise from the inclusion of items of income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from those in which they are
included in the financial statements. 

Deferred tax is not provided on timing differences arising on unremitted earnings of subsidiaries and associates where there is no
commitment to remit these earnings. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is regarded as more likely than not that
they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(j) Turnover
The Group recognises turnover when: 

– there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
– delivery of products has occurred or services have been rendered,
– the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and
– collectibility is reasonably assured.

Revenues are stated net of VAT and similar taxes, trade discounts and intra-Group transactions.

The principal components of the Group’s turnover and their respective accounting treatments are set out below.

Revenue from the sales of products is recognised upon shipment to customers or at the time of delivery depending on the terms 
of sale. Provisions for certain rebates, product returns and discounts to customers are provided for as reductions to net turnover 
in the same period as the related sales are recorded.

Licensing and development fees represent revenues derived from licence agreements and from collaborative research and 
development arrangements.

Initial licence fees are not considered to be separable from the associated research and development activities, even where such fees
are non-refundable and not creditable against research and development services to be rendered. Initial licence fees are deferred and
recognised over the period of the licence term or the period of the associated research and development agreement. In circumstances
where initial licence fees are not for a defined period, revenues are deferred and recognised over the period to the expiration of the
relevant patent to which the licence relates.

During the term of certain research and development agreements, the Group receives non-refundable milestones as certain technical
targets are achieved. Revenue is recognised on achievement of milestones.

The Group also receives non-refundable clinical milestones when certain targets are achieved during the clinical phases of development,
such as the submission of clinical data to a regulatory authority. These clinical milestones are recognised when receivable. If milestone
payments are creditable against future royalty payments, the milestones are deferred and released over the period in which the royalties
are anticipated to be paid.

Royalty income relating to licensed technology is recognised when earned.

No revenue is recognised for consideration, the value or receipt of which is dependent on future events, future performance, 
or refund obligations.

(k) Research and development
Research and development expenditure includes funded and unfunded expenditure and is written off in the period in which 
it is incurred.

(l) Pensions
The Group contributes to personal defined contribution pension plans of employees. Contributions are charged to the profit and loss
account as they become payable. Differences between contributions payable and contributions actually paid are shown as either
accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.
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(m) Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate of exchange at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at that date.

The results of overseas operations are translated at the average rates of exchange during the period and their balance sheets at the
rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on translation of the opening net assets and on foreign currency
borrowings, to the extent that they hedge the Group’s investments in such operations, are reported in the statement of total recognised
gains and losses. All other exchange differences are included in the profit and loss account.

(n) Leases
Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised at their fair value on the inception of the lease and depreciated over the shorter 
of the period of the lease and the useful economic lives of the assets. The finance charges are allocated over the period of the lease 
in proportion to the capital amount outstanding and are charged to the profit and loss account. Operating lease rentals are charged 
to the profit and loss account in equal amounts over the lease term.

(o) Finance costs
Finance costs of debt are charged to the profit and loss account over the term of the debt at a constant rate on the carrying amount.

(p) Debt
Debt is initially stated at the amount of the net proceeds after deduction of issue costs. The carrying amount is increased by the finance
cost in respect of the accounting period and reduced by payments made in the period. Convertible debt is treated as a liability as long
as there is no genuine commercial possibility that the option to issue ordinary shares or American Depositary Shares will be exercised.
No gain or loss is recognised on conversion.

(q) Government grants
Government grants in respect of funded research and development expenditure are credited to the profit and loss account as 
the related expenditure is incurred.

(r) Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to foreign exchange risk and interest rate movements. 
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

For a forward foreign exchange contract to be treated as a hedge the instrument must be related to actual foreign currency assets 
or liabilities or to a probable commitment. It must involve the same currency or similar currencies as the hedged item and must also
reduce the risk of foreign currency exchange movements on the Group's operations. Gains and losses arising on these contracts 
are deferred and recognised in the profit and loss account, or as adjustments to the carrying amount of fixed assets, only when 
the hedged transaction has itself been reflected in the Group's accounts.

For an interest rate swap to be treated as a hedge the instrument must be related to actual assets or liabilities or a probable
commitment and must change the nature of the interest rate by converting a fixed rate to a variable rate or vice versa. Interest
differentials under these swaps are recognised by adjusting net interest payable over the periods of the contracts.

If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example because the underlying hedged position is eliminated, the instrument
is marked to market and any resulting profit or loss recognised at that time.

(s) Employee share schemes
In accordance with UITF Abstract 17 (Employee share schemes), the cost of awards to employees that take the form of shares or rights
to shares is recognised as a charge in the profit and loss account. The amount recognised, which is the difference between the market
value at date of grant and the underlying share and any exercise price, is charged to the profit and loss account over the period the
shares are vested, with a corresponding credit to reserves. 

(t) Related party transactions
In accordance with the exemptions in FRS 8 (related party disclosures), transactions between Group companies have not been disclosed
since Group accounts are prepared and include the results of all subsidiary undertakings.

(u) Significant accounting estimates
Sales deductions primarily consist of statutory rebates to state Medicaid and other Government agencies, contractual rebates with health-
maintenance organizations (HMOs), product returns, trade discounts and allowances for the coupon sampling program. Statutory rebates
to state Medicaid agencies and contractual rebates with HMOs are based on price differentials between a base price and the selling price.
As a result, the rebates increase as a percentage of the selling price over the life of the product. Provision for rebates are recorded as
reductions to turnover in the same period as the related sales with estimates of future utilization derived from historical trends.
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2 Turnover and segment information
(a) Turnover and loss on ordinary activities before taxation 
The Directors believe that there is one business segment.

Licensing and Other 
Product sales development Royalties revenues Total

Year to 31 December 2003 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 635,545 2,232 122,110 1,181 761,068
Cost of product sales (102,384) – – – (102,384)
Distribution costs (156,070) – – – (156,070)
Funded research and development costs – (3,273) – – (3,273)

377,091 (1,041) 122,110 1,181 499,341

Unfunded research and development costs (128,381)
Depreciation and amortisation (582,889)
Expenses not allocated (general overheads) (88,006)
Other operating income 698

Operating loss (229,237)
Share of joint venture’s operating loss (2,806)
Finance charges, net 3,702

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (298,341)

General overheads have not been allocated by business activity as management do not run the business in this way.

Licensing and Other 
Product sales development Royalties revenues Total

Year to 31 December 2002 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 596,313 2,041 114,146 27 712,527
Cost of product sales (95,042) – – – (95,042)
Distribution costs (167,095) – – – (167,095)
Funded research and development costs – (5,041) – – (5,041)

334,176 (3,000) 114,146 27 445,349

Unfunded research and development costs (121,105)
Depreciation and amortisation (794,499)
Expenses not allocated (general overheads) (62,890)

Operating loss (533,145)
Share of joint venture’s operating loss (559)
Finance charges, net 6,931

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (526,773)

General overheads have not been allocated by business activity as management do not run the business in this way.
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(b) Geographical analysis by country of origin

Turnover Profit/(loss) before tax Net assets/(liabilities)
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

US 516,084 492,183 319,139 286,122 746,718 422,820
International 243,472 218,580 (515,027) (722,757) 1,605,706 2,371,204
Global R&D 2,052 1,764 (102,453) (90,138) (43,924) (46,318)

761,608 712,527 (298,341) (526,773) 2,308,500 2,747,706

Analysis by destination is not materially different from analysis by origin.

(c) Analysis of net operating expenses

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Distribution costs 156,070 167,095
Research and development 131,654 126,146
Administrative expenses 670,895 857,389

958,619 1,150,630

3 Operating loss
Operating loss is stated after charging/(crediting):

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Government grant (2,169) (1,855)
Research and development 131,654 126,146
Auditors’ remuneration
– audit fees – Group 630 600

– Company 20 20
– non-audit fees – Group – audit-related 1,015 390

– Group – tax 1,145 511
– Group – other 177 32
– Company 75 48

Operating lease rentals 
– plant and machinery 3,591 2,332
– other 3,868 2,264
Impairment of goodwill 426,362 613,983
Impairment of intangible fixed assets 16,453 17,464
Impairment of tangible fixed assets 5,965 –
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
– owned 12,807 8,995
– held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 597 78
Amortisation of goodwill 106,753 138,513
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 13,952 15,466
Profit on sale of discontinued operations (698) (2,006)
(Profit)/loss on sales of tangible fixed assets (100) 854
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4 Directors’ remuneration, interests and transactions 
Aggregate remuneration
The total amounts for Directors’ remuneration and other benefits were as follows:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Emoluments 2,256 2,300
Money purchase pension contributions 4,676 383
Gains on exercise of share options 114 2,962
Amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 276 –
Compensation for loss of office 1,335 –

8,657 5,645

No fees were payable to third parties in respect of Directors’ services for either year.

The number of Directors who were members of a Company pension scheme was as follows:

2003 2002
No. No.

Money purchase schemes 4 4

Contributions paid by the Group in respect of these Directors can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on page 24. The above
amounts for remuneration include the following in respect of the highest paid Director:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Aggregate emoluments 311 1,144
Gains on exercise of share options 21 2,836
Amounts receivable under long-term incentive schemes 183 –
Compensation for loss of office 1,335 –

1,850 3,980

Further disclosures relating to Directors’ remuneration and interests in transactions can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report.
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5 Staff costs
Particulars of employee costs (including executive Directors’ remuneration) are shown below:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 85,026 79,383
Social security costs 8,527 7,761
Pension contributions 9,824 4,702

103,377 91,846

The Group operates an Inland Revenue approved employee share option scheme and has taken advantage of the exemption given in
UITF Abstract 17 (Employee share schemes) from recognising a charge in the profit and loss account for the discount on the options.

The average monthly number of people employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

2003 2002
No. No.

Manufacturing and distribution 374 292
Sales and marketing 797 791
General and administrative 327 298
Research and development 407 424

1,905 1,805

6 Finance charges, net

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Investment income 13,165 15,434

Interest payable and similar charges 9,404 8,458
Finance leases and hire purchase contracts 59 45

9,463 8,503

Finance charges, net
Investment income 13,165 15,434
Interest payable and similar charges (9,463) (8,503)

3,702 6,931
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7 Tax on loss on ordinary activities
The tax charge comprises:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Current tax
Overseas corporation tax 76,830 66,461
Adjustment to prior year tax charge
UK corporation tax – 1,190
Overseas corporation tax 512 (196)

77,342 67,455
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (12,328) (5,829)

Total deferred tax (12,328) (5,829)

Total tax on loss on ordinary activities 65,014 61,626

The differences between the total current tax shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK corporation
tax to the profit before tax is as follows:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Group loss on ordinary activities before tax (298,341) (526,773)

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at standard UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2002: 30%) (89,502) (158,032)
Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 12,063 9,247
Non deductible goodwill 161,195 225,749
Additional tax benefits / non taxable income (891) (1,796)
Utilisation of tax losses 1,385 9,255
Capital taxes and withholding taxes 1,548 550
Different tax rates on overseas earnings (26,008) (24,341)
Deferred tax liability 12,328 5,829
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous periods 5,224 994

Group current tax charge for period 77,342 67,455

The Group earns a significant proportion of its profits in the US. The US statutory federal tax rate is higher than that of the UK; profits
being taxed at 35%. In the future, changes in US tax law may affect the Group tax charge.

No tax deduction is available on the impairment of goodwill that was created on the acquisition of BioChem Pharma Inc.
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8 Profit attributable to Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc
The profit for the financial year dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £194,246,000 (2002: loss of £7,038,000). As provided by
section 230 of the Companies Act 1985, no profit and loss account is presented in respect of the Company.

9 Loss per share
Loss per share has been calculated by dividing the loss on ordinary activities after taxation for each period by the weighted average
number of shares in issue during those periods.

The weighted average number of shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share has been adjusted for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. No such amounts were included as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive in loss making periods. Similarly the 
$370 million convertible loan note (2002: $400 million) is excluded as it was not dilutive.

Basic and diluted

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Loss for the financial year (363,355) (588,399)

The weighted average number of shares used in each year are as follows:

2003 2002
No. No.

Total for basic and diluted loss per share 498,212,826 500,687,594

10 Intangible assets – intellectual property

Group Company
£’000 £’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2003 260,948 23,668
Additions 30,238 –
Foreign exchange (15,976) –

As at 31 December 2003 275,210 23,668

Amortisation
As at 1 January 2003 77,544 2,278
Charge for the year 13,952 2,060
Impairment 16,453 –
Foreign exchange (4,287) –

As at 31 December 2003 103,662 4,338

Net book value
As at 31 December 2002 183,404 21,390

As at 31 December 2003 171,548 19,330

During the year and included within additions for the year, the Group purchased METHYPATCH, a transdermal methylphenidate drug
delivery system, from Noven Pharmaceuticals Inc. for US$25.0 million, a series of therapeutic products from DRAXIS Health Inc for
CAN$15.0 million, and VANIQA® from Women First Healthcare Inc. for US$10.0 million.

The impairment was in respect of non-strategic products that are no longer marketed by the Group.
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11 Intangible assets – goodwill 

Group Company
£’000 £’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2003 2,774,292 –
Prior year adjustment (611) –
Foreign exchange (412) –

As at 31 December 2003 2,773,269 –

Amortisation
As at 1 January 2003 873,396 –
Charge for the year 106,753 –
Impairment 426,362 –
Foreign exchange 1,175 –

As at 31 December 2003 1,407,686 –

Net book value
As at 31 December 2002 1,900,896 –

As at 31 December 2003 1,365,583 –

At 31 December 2003, an impairment charge was booked in relation to goodwill which was created on the acquisition of BioChem
Pharma Inc. A discounted cash flow model was used to estimate the recoverable value of the business and the impairment is included
within net operating expenses in the consolidated profit and loss account. A range of discount rates between 7.5-10% was applied 
to probability-adjusted forecasts.

The prior year cost adjustment relates to the contingent cost element of a 2002 acquisition which was ultimately not payable.
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12 Tangible assets
(a) Group

Freehold Office
land and furniture and Equipment
buildings fittings and other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2003 62,028 18,072 21,608 101,708
Additions 16,030 8,303 7,067 31,400
Disposals – (697) (831) (1,528)
Transfers (461) 461 – –
Foreign exchange 3,119 (166) 41 2,994

As at 31 December 2003 80,716 25,973 27,885 134,574

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2003 3,725 7,842 6,140 17,707
Charge 3,593 4,219 5,592 13,404
Impairment 5,965 – – 5,965
Disposals – (464) (104) (568)
Foreign exchange 308 128 576 1,012

As at 31 December 2003 13,591 11,725 12,204 37,520

Net book value
As at 31 December 2002 58,303 10,230 15,468 84,001

As at 31 December 2003 67,125 14,248 15,681 97,054

Freehold land, amounting to £4,746,000 (2002: £4,246,000) for the Group has not been depreciated. The write-down to fair value is for
properties available for sale.

The net book value of the Group’s assets held under finance leases and hire purchase agreements is shown below:

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Buildings 3,277 3,848
Equipment and other 35 61

3,312 3,909

All finance leases and hire purchase arrangements are short leases with a life of less than 50 years.
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12 Tangible assets continued
(b) Company

Office
furniture and Equipment

fittings and other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2003 1,608 5,980 7,588
Additions 281 5,818 6,099
Disposals (301) (277) (578)
Transfers (1,491) 1,491 –

As at 31 December 2003 97 13,012 13,109

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2003 949 2,998 3,947
Charge 307 1,280 1,587
Disposals (238) (111) (349)
Transfers (921) 921 –

As at 31 December 2003 97 5,088 5,185

Net book value
As at 31 December 2002 659 2,982 3,641

As at 31 December 2003 – 7,924 7,924

The net book value of the Company’s equipment includes £35,480 (2002: £61,000) in respect of assets held under finance leases
and hire purchase agreements.

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 45



46 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

13 Fixed asset investments

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Subsidiary undertakings – – 3,419,192 3,435,332
Other investments 33,269 37,345 559 559

33,269 37,345 3,419,751 3,435,891

Principal Group investments
The parent Company and the Group have investments in the following subsidiary undertakings and other investments which principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To avoid a statement of excessive length, details of investments which are not significant
have been omitted.

Country of
incorporation or
principal business Principal 
address activity Holding %

Subsidiary undertakings
Roberts Pharmaceutical Corporation US Intermediate holding company 100%
Shire Pharmaceuticals Limited UK Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Pharmaceutical Development Limited* UK Development of pharmaceuticals, including

on behalf of other Group companies 100%
Shire International Licensing BV Netherlands Licensing and development

of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Laboratories, Inc. US Development and licensing of pharmaceuticals,

including on behalf of other Group companies 100%
Shire Supplies US, LLC US Holder of intellectual property 100%
Shire France SA France Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Deutschland GmbH & Co K G Germany Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire US Inc. US Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited Ireland Marketing and distribution of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Italia SpA Italy Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Pharmaceuticals Iberica SL Spain Marketing and distribution of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire Pharmaceuticals Development US Inc. US Development of pharmaceuticals, including on

behalf of other Group companies 100%
Shire BioChem Inc. Canada Marketing, research and development of

pharmaceuticals, including on behalf of other
Group companies 100%

Shire Finance Limited* Cayman Islands Issuer of convertible notes 100%
Shire Biologics Inc. US Research and development of pharmaceuticals,

including on behalf of other Group companies 100%
Shire Pharmaceutical Contracts Limited* UK Marketing of pharmaceuticals 100%
Shire US Manufacturing Inc. US Manufacturer of pharmaceuticals 100%

*Held directly by Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc.

All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidated financial statements.
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13 Fixed asset investments continued
Subsidiary undertakings

Company Amounts
Shares in due from

subsidiary subsidiary
undertakings undertakings Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 3,206,336 228,996 3,435,332
Additions 2,433 – 2,433
Disposal (727) – (727)
Net payback of loans – (5,028) (5,028)
Foreign exchange – (12,818) (12,818)

At 31 December 2003 3,208,042 211,150 3,419,192

Other investments

Group Company

Other Other
investments Total investments Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 January 2003 43,154 43,154 559 559
Additions 3,447 3,447 – –
Foreign exchange 1,968 1,968 – –

At 31 December 2003 48,569 48,569 559 559

Provisions for impairment
At 1 January 2003 5,809 5,809 – –
Written-off 9,491 9,491 – –

At 31 December 2003 15,300 15,300 – –

Net book value
At 31 December 2002 37,345 37,345 559 559

At 31 December 2003 33,269 33,269 559 559

(a) Investments in private companies

(i) GeneChem funds
The Group has made investments in two venture capital funds. The fund managers distribute income to the partners of the funds for
dividends or realised gains made on sale of investments. As part of its initial investment the Group were required to make additional
future investments. As of 31 December 2003, Shire is committed to making an additional investment of £2.3 million (CAN$5.3 million). 

(ii) EGS Healthcare fund
In November 2000, the Group entered into an agreement to invest up to £5.6 million ($10.0 million) in various EGS healthcare funds.
EGS is a private equity company that makes investments in healthcare companies that focus mainly on biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals. As of 31 December 2003, the Group has invested £3.4 million ($6.1 million) in EGS healthcare funds and the
Group is, therefore, committed to invest a further £2.2 million ($3.9 million) into these funds. 

(b) Investments in public companies
As at 31 December 2003, the Group held £7.5 million of investments in public companies (2002: £8.8 million). During the year ended 
31 December 2003, there were no new investments made in public companies. 

The Group impaired the cost of investments in public companies by £1.0 million. 

Fixed asset investments are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and as a result, any market gains have not been
recognised. As at 31 December 2003, the market value of listed investments was £4.8 million above the lower of cost and net realisable
value (2002: £0.8 million). There are no other differences between cost and market value.
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14 Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisitions
The Group made no acquisitions during the year ended 31 December 2003. 

Disposals
On 31 December 2003, the Group completed its divestment of its investment in the joint venture, Qualia Computing Inc. This was sold 
to iCAD Inc. for a total consideration of £3.1 million ($5.5 million). The following table summarises the major categories of assets and
liabilities attributed to the joint venture at the date of disposal.

£’000

Investments 2,375
Profit on sale 698

3,073

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration 559
Deferred consideration 2,514

3,073

15 Investments in joint ventures
In accordance with FRS No. 9 (associates and joint ventures) the following information regarding the Group’s share in Qualia is disclosed,
prior to its disposal in December 2003:

2003 2002
Qualia £’000 £’000

Turnover 3,594 762
Loss before tax (2,806) (559)
Taxation – –

Loss after tax (2,806) (559)

Fixed assets – 2,648
Current assets – 2,434
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year – (342)

16 Stocks

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Raw materials and consumables 3,797 4,862 – –
Work in progress 5,644 8,520 – –
Finished goods and goods for resale 15,841 17,189 – –

25,282 30,571 – –

There is no material difference between the balance sheet value of stocks and their replacement cost.
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17 Deferred tax

Deferred tax
£’000

Group
At 1 January 2002 22,196
Credited to profit and loss account 5,829
Foreign Exchange (2,518)

At 31 December 2002 25,507
Credited to profit and loss account 12,328
Foreign Exchange (2,568) 

At 31 December 2003 35,267

Included in the above balance at 31 December 2003 is a liability of £782,000 (2002: asset of £3,861,000) which is due after more than
one year.

Deferred tax is provided and unprovided as follows:

Unprovided Provided Unprovided Provided
2003 2003 2002 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Accelerated capital allowances – (18,684) – (18,676)
Other timing differences – 9,226 – 11,300
Tax losses available 93,948 44,725 92,283 32,883

Deferred tax asset 93,948 35,267 92,283 25,507

Amounts unprovided principally represent the deferred tax assets arising from overseas tax, operating loss carryforwards and capital loss
carryforwards. The utilisation of operating loss carryforwards is restricted to the taxable income of the subsidiary generating the losses. 

As at 31 December 2003, based upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income, management
believes it is more likely than not that the Group will realise the benefits of the provided deferred tax assets. However, the amount of 
the deferred tax asset considered realisable could be adjusted in the future if estimates of taxable income are revised.

Company
The Company has an unprovided deferred tax asset of £10.3 million (2002: £nil) carried forward.

18 Debtors

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Due within one year:
Trade debtors 120,841 81,914 43 43
VAT 360 1,696 989 682
Other debtors 8,812 9,501 483 478
Prepayments and accrued income 11,033 13,014 1,792 1,042
Amounts due from other Group undertakings – – 97,048 103,135

141,046 106,125 100,355 105,380

Due after more than one year:
SERP 6,727 7,498 – –
Other debtors 2,497 2,037 – –

9,224 9,535 – –

Further details of the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) asset are provided in note 27. The amount shown above is
the gross asset represented by non-current marketable securities. A related liability of approximately £5.0 million is included within
notes 20 and 21.
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19 Current asset investments

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Institutional and managed cash funds 102,373 141,800 – –
Commercial paper 67,522 54,564 – –

169,895 196,364 – –

There were no material differences between book value and fair value of the managed cash funds as at 31 December 2003 or as at 
31 December 2002. Investments are held at amortised cost because of their short-term nature and they are generally held to maturity.

20 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Other creditors
Bank loans (note 21 ii) 431 389 – –
Obligations under finance leases 158 162 35 32
Trade creditors 11,895 29,153 308 862
Amounts due to other Group undertakings – – 241,661 218,219
Overseas corporation tax 10,395 8,835 – –
Other taxation and social security 2,683 2,416 1,162 367
Other creditors 7,662 2,033 168 197
Accruals and deferred income 108,498 88,897 7,706 5,630

141,722 131,885 251,040 225,307

Obligations under finance leases are secured on the assets to which they relate.

Included within other creditors is £1,553,000 relating to the SERP (2002: £766,000). See note 27 for details.
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21 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible debt
2% guaranteed convertible loan notes 2011 (i) 202,659 243,547 – –

Deferred tax liability 782 – – –

Other creditors
Bank loans (ii) 424 778 – –
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts 3,238 3,757 – 36
Amounts due to other Group undertakings – – 206,459 252,258
Other creditors 5,792 9,247 – –
Deferred income 7,503 – – –

16,957 13,782 206,459 252,294

220,398 257,329 206,459 252,294

Included within other creditors is £3,409,000 relating to the SERP (2002: £4,430,000). See note 27 for details.

Subject to the conditions below, borrowings are repayable as follows:

Group Company

2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Convertible loan notes: (i)
After five years 202,659 243,547 – –

202,659 243,547 – –
Bank loans: (ii)
Between one and two years 424 389 – –
Between two and five years – 389 – –

424 778 – –
Obligations under finance leases and hire purchase contracts:
Between one and two years 142 158 – 36
After five years 3,096 3,599 – –

3,238 3,757 – 36

206,321 248,082 – 36
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21 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year continued
(i) $400 million 2% guaranteed convertible loan notes 2011
The $400 million of guaranteed convertible loan notes due 2011 were issued on 15 August 2001 by Shire Finance Limited (the Issuer),
a wholly owned subsidiary. The notes bear interest of 2% per annum, paid semi-annually in arrears.

The convertible notes are guaranteed by Shire and are convertible into redeemable preference shares of the Issuer which upon issuance
will be immediately exchanged for either (i) Shire ordinary shares or (ii) Shire ADSs, or (iii) at the Issuer’s option, a cash amount based
upon the London Stock Exchange volume-weighted average prices of ordinary shares from the fourth to the eighth business days
following conversion. 

At the choice of investors, each $1000 of nominal value notes can be converted into 49.62 Shire ordinary shares (subject to adjustment)
or 16.54 Shire ADSs (subject to adjustment) at any time up to 21 August 2011. Alternatively, investors can choose to receive repayment
of the nominal principal in cash either at the maturity date of 21 August 2011 or by exercising a put option on any of the three put 
dates being 21 August 2004, 21 August 2006 and 21 August 2008. At the option of the Company, repayment can be made in the 
form of Shire ordinary shares or ADSs. The number of ordinary shares that a note holder would receive would be based on the notional
principal of the notes divided by 95% of the London Stock Exchange volume-weighted average price of ordinary shares on the five
trading days after the Company gives notice of the exercise of its option. Such notice will be on or before the tenth business day
preceding the repayment put date. On or after 21 August 2004, the Company may redeem, for cash, all or part of the notes provided
the ordinary share price has exceeded $26.20 (Sterling equivalent at the time) for 20 of the 30 consecutive dealing days in the period
prior to redemption.

During the second quarter of 2003, the Company repurchased £17.6 million ($29.8 million) of the $400 million 2% guaranteed
convertible notes due 2011.

The decision as to whether a note holder would exercise a put option will depend on a number of factors particularly the price of 
Shire shares at the put date and the likelihood of Shire’s share price exceeding the conversion threshold price. The conversion threshold
price is £12.52 for ordinary shares. If the price of Shire ordinary shares at the first put date of 21 August 2004 remains at a level similar
to the year end price of £5.425, it is quite possible that note holders will choose to exercise their put options. The Group currently has
adequate resources from which it could satisfy repayment of the entire convertible debt principal of $370.2 million.

(ii) Canadian federal and provincial government loan
The Group has a Canadian federal and provincial government loan outstanding of £0.8 million (CAN$2.0 million). This facility is
non-interest bearing and is repayable in annual instalments of £0.4 million (CAN$1.0 million) in October of 2004 and 2005. 
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22 Derivatives and other financial instruments
The Financial review on pages 6 to 9 provides an explanation of the role that financial instruments have had during the year. The explanation
summarises the objectives and policies for holding or issuing financial instruments and similar contracts, and the strategies for achieving
those objectives that have been followed during the year. No foreign exchange, interest rate or other derivative contracts were entered
into or transacted during 2003 or 2002.

The numerical disclosures in this note deal with financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in FRS 13 (derivatives and other
financial instruments: disclosures). Certain financial assets such as investments in subsidiary companies are excluded from the scope
of these disclosures.

As permitted by FRS 13, short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the disclosures, other than the currency disclosures.

Interest rate profile
The currency and interest rate profile of the Group’s financial assets, excluding short-term debtors at 31 December 2003, are as below.
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, there are current asset investments as detailed in note 19. 

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
interest interest interest Financial Financial
period rate rate instruments instruments 

Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate Total
Days % % £'000 £'000 £'000

Pounds sterling 7 3.07 3.50 14,729 3,875 18,604
US dollars 204 1.00 1.32 604,822 113,889 718,711
Euro 76 0.89 2.00 9,027 6,634 15,661
Canadian dollars 70 0.25 2.99 3,093 35,392 38,485
Other – 0.25 – 104 – 104

631,775 159,790 791,565

The benchmark rates for floating rate assets are primarily; US dollar 7 day, 1 month and 3 month LIBID, and pounds sterling 7 day LIBID.

The currency and interest rate profile of the Group’s financial assets excluding short-term debtors at 31 December 2002 are as below. 
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, there are current asset investments as detailed in note 19.

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average
interest interest interest Financial Financial
period rate rate instruments instruments 

Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate Floating rate Fixed rate Total
Days % % £'000 £'000 £'000

Pounds sterling 2 3.4 3.9 14,298 3,296 17,594
US dollars 60 1.5 1.9 426,017 237,011 663,028
Euro 6 – 3.1 6,437 3,891 10,328
Canadian dollars 131 – 2.9 2,128 61,718 63,846

448,880 305,916 754,796

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2003 was as follows:

Floating Fixed Interest free Total
Currency £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Canadian dollars
– Federal and provincial government loan – – 855 855

US dollars
– Convertible debt – 202,659 – 202,659

Total – 202,659 855 203,514

The $370.2 million of guaranteed convertible loan notes due 2011, were issued on 15 August 2001 by Shire Finance Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary. The notes bear interest of 2% per annum, paid semi-annually in arrears. The weighted average period to maturity
of the guaranteed convertible loan notes is 7 years. For further information on the guaranteed convertible loan notes, see note 21 (i).

Weighted average period to maturity of interest free government loans is 16 months.
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22 Derivatives and other financial instruments continued

The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2002 was as follows:

Floating Fixed Interest free Total
Currency £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Canadian dollars
– Federal and provincial government loan – – 1,167 1,167

US dollars
– Convertible debt – 243,547 – 243,547

Total – 243,547 1,167 244,714

Currency exposures
The Group’s objectives in managing the currency exposures arising from its net investment overseas (in other words, its structural
currency exposures) are to maintain a low cost of borrowings and minimise currency related exposures. Gains and losses arising 
from structural currency exposures are recognised in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

The table below shows the Group’s currency exposures; in other words, those transactional (or non-structural) exposures that give rise
to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account. Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and
monetary liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the operating (or “functional”) currency of the operating unit involved, 
other than certain non-sterling borrowings treated as hedges of net investments in overseas operations. As at 31 December 2003 
these exposures were as follows:

Net foreign currency monetary assets

Pounds US Canadian
Functional currency sterling dollars Euro dollars Other Total
of Group operation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pounds sterling – (333,969) 681 436 80 (333,287)
US dollars 12,447 – 8,171 20 25 21,178
Euro 2,201 5,455 – – – 7,656
Canadian dollars 49,183 108,267 26 – – 157,476

63,831 (220,247) 8,878 456 105 (146,978)

The exposures at 31 December 2002 for comparison purposes were as follows:

Net foreign currency monetary assets

Pounds US
Functional currency sterling dollars Euro Other Total
of Group operation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Pounds sterling – 330,714 242 49 331,005
Euro 1,268 1,830 – – 3,098
Canadian dollars 1,702 662 301 40 2,705

2,970 333,206 543 89 336,808
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22 Derivatives and other financial instruments continued
Maturity of financial liabilities
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2003 is shown below:

Convertible
loan notes Bank loans Total

Group £'000 £'000 £'000

Less than one year – 431 431
Between one and two years – 424 424
Between two and five years – – –
Over five years 202,659 – 202,659

202,659 855 203,514

See note 21(i) and 21(ii) for further information on convertible loan notes and bank loans respectively.

Borrowing facilities
The Group had no undrawn committed borrowing facilities at 31 December 2003 or 2002.

Fair values
The market price of the convertible loan stock 2011 as at 31 December 2003 was $100.537 compared with an issue price of $100.
If the loan is not converted into equity, it would be repayable at $100 per note. The total fair value of the debt as at 31 December 2003,
based on the above market price, was £207.9 million ($372.2 million) compared to a face value of £206.8 million. In addition at 31
December 2003 the fair value, being market value, of listed investments was £4.8 million above book value (2002: £0.8 million above).
There were no other material differences between the book values and fair values of all other Group financial assets and liabilities at
31 December 2003 (2002: £nil). 

Gains and losses on hedges
The Group had no foreign exchange, interest rate or other derivative contracts outstanding at 31 December 2003 or 31 December 2002.
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23 Called-up share capital
Ordinary shares

Number
'000 £’000

Authorised
At 31 December 2002 – ordinary shares of 5p each 800,000 40,000

At 31 December 2003 – ordinary shares of 5p each 800,000 40,000

Allotted, issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2003 – ordinary shares of 5p each 484,344 24,217
Issued on exercise of options for cash consideration 1,040 53
Issued on exchange of exchangeable shares 104 5
Cancelled on repurchase of ordinary shares (7,593) (380)

At 31 December 2003 – ordinary shares of 5p each 477,895 23,895

Special ordinary voting shares (exchangeable shares)

Number
'000 £’000

Authorised
At 31 December 2002 – special ordinary voting shares of 0.00001p 17,500 –

At 31 December 2003 – special ordinary voting shares of 0.00001p 17,500 –

Allotted, issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2003 5,874 –
Exchanged for ordinary shares (34) –

At 31 December 2003 5,840 –

Authorised share capital
As at 31 December 2003 the authorised share capital of the Company was £40,000,000 divided into 799,999,965 ordinary shares 
of 5p each and 17,500,000 Special Ordinary Voting Shares (exchangeable shares) of 0.00001p each.

Issue of ordinary shares
During the year ended 31 December 2003 the Company allotted 103,653 ordinary shares with a nominal value of £5,182 on the
exchange of special ordinary voting shares (exchangeable shares), which were issued following the acquisition of BioChem in 2001.
These shares were issued at a premium of £1,121,525.

Repurchase of ordinary shares
During the year the Company repurchased a total of 7,592,778 ordinary shares for a total consideration of £31,627,815 representing an
average price per share of 416.55p. All of these shares were cancelled. Any decision by the Company to acquire further ordinary shares
in future will be dependent upon the level of its distributable profits, its financial condition, the terms of any then existing debt facilities,
the renewal after 16 June 2004 of the authority given by shareholders and other relevant factors existing at that time.

Issue of special ordinary voting shares
The Company exchanged 34,551 special ordinary voting shares during the year ended 31 December 2003. Each of these shares is
equivalent to 3 ordinary shares and is exchangeable into ordinary shares or ADSs, at a rate of one exchangeable share for three ordinary
shares or one exchangeable share for one ADS, at any time at the request of the holder. Only BioChem shareholders with Canadian
residency had the option to receive exchangeable shares for their shares of BioChem at the time of acquisition. The exchangeable
shares were issued by Shire Acquisition Inc., a company incorporated under the Canada Business Corporations Act, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange. Holders of the exchangeable shares are entitled to
dividend and other rights that are economically equivalent to those of ordinary shares. Through a voting trust and by means of special
voting shares in Shire held by the trustee, holders of exchangeable shares are entitled to vote at shareholder meetings of the Company.

As at 31 December 2003 5,839,559 exchangeable shares remained unconverted. The Company can redeem all outstanding
exchangeable shares for ordinary shares after 11 May 2011, or earlier if the total number of exchangeable shares falls below 1 million. 

The exchangeable shares are included as part of share capital in the consolidated balance sheet to present a true and fair view of the
consolidated Group’s capital structure, which differs from the Companies Act 1985 requirements (to reflect these amounts as minority
interests), as they will become, and are equivalent, to ordinary shares.
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23 Called-up share capital continued

Share warrants
On 24 April 2002 the Company issued 741,812 share warrants, at £4.88 per warrant, and on 21 November 2002 the Company issued 
a further 604,595 share warrants, at £4.895 per warrant, both issues being made to Technology Partnership Canada (TPC), pursuant 
to an agreement between BioChem and the Government of Canada (GOC). Each warrant grants a right to subscribe for a corresponding
number of ordinary shares of the Company within five years from the date of issue of the warrant.

Convertible loan notes
The $400 million of guaranteed convertible loan notes due 2011 were issued on 15 August 2001 by Shire Finance Limited, a wholly
owned subsidiary. For further information on the guaranteed convertible loan notes, see note 21 (i).

The Group’s Directors and employees have been granted share options over ordinary shares under the following share option plans: 
the Shire Pharmaceuticals Executive Share Option Scheme (Parts A and B) (Executive Scheme), the Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc 
2000 Executive Share Option Scheme Parts A and B (2000 Executive Scheme), the Pharmavene 1991 Stock Option Plan (SLI Plan), 
the Roberts Stock Option Plans (Roberts Plans), the BioChem Stock Option Plan (BioChem Plan), the Shire Pharmaceuticals Sharesave
Scheme (Sharesave Scheme) and the Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Stock Purchase Plan). 

Inclusive of those options granted to executive Directors disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report above, employees and former
employees of the Group have been granted options over the following ordinary shares:

Number of
ordinary Exercise

Scheme Notes shares price Earliest Latest

Executive Scheme A (i) 8,000 £2.180 15.02.99 14.02.06
5,000 £1.900 30.09.99 29.09.06
7,620 £2.690 26.08.00 25.08.07

62,151 £3.385 09.02.01 08.02.08
17,194 £4.170 11.12.01 10.12.08
13,265 £4.735 15.03.02 14.03.09
10,618 £5.650 26.07.02 25.07.09
5,623 £5.335 23.08.02 22.08.09
4,181 £7.175 13.12.02 12.12.09

97,767 £10.275 01.03.03 28.02.10
16,257 £10.275 27.04.03 26.04.10
12,007 £10.275 06.06.03 05.06.10
9,612 £12.480 03.08.03 02.08.10
2,413 £12.430 19.09.03 18.09.10
1,500 £12.690 27.11.03 26.11.10

273,208

Executive Scheme B (i) 7,000 £2.185 25.03.00 24.03.04
175,475 £2.690 26.08.00 25.08.04
488,072 £3.385 09.02.01 08.02.05
275,000 £3.625 13.08.01 12.08.05
12,806 £4.170 11.12.01 10.12.05
25,000 £4.260 12.01.02 11.01.06
2,000 £4.200 10.03.02 09.03.06

799,735 £4.735 15.03.02 14.03.06
177,500 £4.705 12.05.02 11.05.06
19,382 £5.650 26.07.02 25.07.06
14,377 £5.335 23.08.02 22.08.06
45,819 £7.175 13.12.02 12.12.06

1,008,562 £10.275 01.03.03 28.02.07
35,000 £10.275 25.04.03 24.04.07

170,824 £10.275 27.04.03 26.04.07
63,662 £10.275 06.06.03 05.06.07
73,888 £12.480 03.08.03 02.08.07
31,087 £12.430 19.09.03 18.09.07

3,425,189
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Number of
ordinary Exercise

Scheme Notes shares price Earliest Latest

2000 Executive Scheme A (ii) 2,417 £12.410 19.09.03 18.09.10
143,030 £12.570 05.06.04 04.06.11
25,674 £9.940 08.11.04 07.11.11
57,113 £5.250 01.03.05 29.02.12
16,348 £5.430 02.08.05 01.08.12
5,020 £5.975 09.09.05 08.09.12

14,791 £5.180 07.11.05 06.11.12
172,040 £3.38 04.03.06 03.03.13
30,547 £4.73 06.11.06 05.11.13

466,980

2000 Executive Scheme B (ii) 320,248 £12.800 03.08.03 02.08.10
157,583 £12.410 19.09.03 18.09.10

4,000 £13.200 27.11.03 26.11.10
2,359,778 £12.570 05.06.04 04.06.11

282,079 £9.940 08.11.04 07.11.11
3,227,694 £5.250 01.03.05 29.02.12

446,053 £5.065 04.03.05 03.03.12
6,386 £5.575 22.03.05 21.03.12

190,413 £5.430 02.08.05 01.08.12
561 £12.570 02.08.05 01.08.12

72,980 £5.975 09.09.05 08.09.12
334,109 £5.180 07.11.05 06.11.12

6,883,250 £3.380 04.03.06 03.03.13
945,010 £3.6825 18.03.06 17.03.13
212,811 £4.6975 01.08.06 31.07.13
128,453 £4.725 06.11.06 05.11.13
85,000 £4.9175 15.12.06 14.12.13

15,656,408

SLI Plan (iii) 2,265 $1.2955 – 10.04.04
4,013 $1.2955 – 21.05.05

167 $1.2969 – 22.01.06
2,784 $1.2955 – 05.03.06

939 $1.2953 – 13.05.06
701 $1.2955 – 07.08.06
418 $1.7270 – 06.11.06

11,287

Roberts Plans (iv) 50,934 $5.240 – 31.08.04
11,730 $5.600 – 09.06.04
31,280 $6.000 – 20.01.05
15,640 $6.020 – 26.05.05
1,564 $6.754 – 10.12.04

27,190 $6.760 – 10.12.04

138,338
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Number of
ordinary Exercise

Scheme Notes shares price Earliest Latest

BioChem Plan (v) 31,859 £1.24 – 26.06.04
2 £1.39 – 29.09.04

56,893 £1.79 – 17.01.05
31,859 £2.50 – 06.06.05
61,442 £6.00 – 01.02.06

156,933 £6.26 – 04.06.06
3,186 £5.56 – 15.06.06

81,014 £7.11 – 15.06.06
9,102 £5.01 – 12.09.06

3,471,122 £7.12 – 28.01.07
22,757 £7.75 – 28.02.07
2,275 £6.20 – 05.05.07

77,374 £7.20 – 01.09.07
79,417 £6.11 – 19.01.08
2,275 £6.94 – 20.04.08

301,614 £6.94 – 25.07.10
144,953 £8.08 – 27.01.09
25,032 £7.40 – 28.02.09
4,097 £6.30 – 12.05.09
7,964 £5.70 – 10.06.09

10,003 £6.60 – 18.07.09
317,990 £9.05 – 25.01.10
13,653 £6.58 – 23.05.10

– £7.48 – 25.07.10

4,912,816

Sharesave Scheme (vi) 5,911 £8.56 01.06.05 30.11.05
10,609 £8.41 01.12.04 31.05.05
8,584 £8.41 01.12.06 31.05.07

59,508 £5.02 01.12.05 31.05.06
29,515 £5.02 01.12.07 31.05.08
91,360 £3.86 01.12.06 31.05.07
66,924 £3.86 01.12.08 31.05.09

272,411

Number of
ordinary Exercise

Scheme Notes shares price Earliest Latest

Stock Purchase Plan (vii) 72,159 £8.06 01.02.04 01.02.04
342,391 £5.44 23.11.04 23.11.04
18,342 £3.19 19.03.05 19.03.05

406,014 £4.09 22.11.05 22.11.05

838,906

25,995,543
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The following table sets forth certain information relating to changes to options outstanding in the year:

As at As at
1 January Options Options Options 31 December

Scheme Notes 2003 granted exercised lapsed 2003

Executive Scheme A (i) 318,765 – (15,761) (29,796) 273,208
Executive Scheme B (i) 4,113,538 – (536,214) (152,135) 3,425,189
2000 Executive Scheme A (ii) 280,392 233,382 – (46,794) 466,980
2000 Executive Scheme B (ii) 7,823,964 8,585,817 (6,621) (746,752) 15,656,408
SLI Plan (iii) 40,084 – (27,409) (1,388) 11,287
Roberts Plans (iv) 567,399 – (409,972) (19,089) 138,338
BioChem Plan (v) 5,099,991 – (31,859) (155,316) 4,912,816
Sharesave Scheme (vi) 253,862 182,639 (11,603) (152,487) 272,411
Stock Purchase Plan (vii) 1,553,302 406,014 – (1,120,410) 838,906

20,051,297 9,407,852 (1,039,439) (2,424,167) 25,995,543

The ordinary shares in Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc, to which the above options relate, were valued at £5.42 at 31 December 2003.
The highest and lowest market prices during the year ended 31 December 2003 were £5.42 and £2.93 respectively. 

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 60



Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

61

23 Called-up share capital continued
Notes:
i) Options granted under the Executive Scheme are subject to performance criteria and cannot be exercised in full unless the
Company’s share price increases at a compound rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period.
If the Company’s share price increases at a compound rate of 14.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, 
60% of the options may be exercised. If these conditions are not met after the initial three years, they are thereafter tested quarterly 
by reference to share price growth over the extended period. If the share price does not meet these conditions at any time, none 
of the options will become exercisable.

ii) Options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme vest six weeks prior to the expiry date. Options granted under this scheme are
subject to performance criteria. In respect of any option granted prior to August 2002, if Shire’s share price increases at a compound
rate of at least 20.5% per annum over a minimum three-year measurement period, the option will be exercisable in full. If it increases 
by at least 14.5% per annum over the same three-year measurement period, the option may be exercised on 60% of the shares
covered by the option. If these conditions are not met after the initial three-year measurement period, they will thereafter be tested
quarterly by reference to compound annual share price growth over an extended period.

The performance criteria were reviewed in 2002 to ensure the criteria reflected the market in which Shire operates. Given Shire’s
development it was considered appropriate that an EPS based measure should be adopted in place of share price growth targets.
Therefore, the performance criteria was amended so that an option would only become exercisable in full if Shire’s EPS growth over a
three year period from the date of award exceeds the UK Retail Price Index (RPI) on average a year for the following tranches of grants:

Options with a grant value of up to 100% of salary RPI plus 3% (Directors, RPI plus 5%)
Between 101% and 200% of salary RPI plus 5% 
Between 201% and 300% of salary RPI plus 7% 
Over 301% of salary RPI plus 9%

The new EPS performance criteria apply to options granted under the 2000 Executive Scheme from August 2002. After consultation
with some of its institutional shareholders, the Company has decided that for options granted under the scheme from 2004 onwards,
the performance condition should be retested once only, at five years after the grant. The retest will be applied only where Shire’s EPS
growth has fallen short of the minimum annual average percentage increase over the three-year period from grant. Hence the level of
EPS growth in the next two years needs to be consequentially higher to meet the test. The EPS used will be the fully diluted EPS
calculated under US GAAP reporting.

iii) These options have been granted over shares in Shire Laboratories Inc. (SLI), formerly Pharmavene Inc., a US company acquired 
by the Group on 23 March 1997. Exercise of these options results in the option holder receiving ordinary shares in the Company. 
As a result of the acquisition of SLI, and in accordance with the terms of the original SLI Plan, all options granted under that plan
became immediately capable of exercise and were not subject to performance criteria.

iv) These options have been granted over shares in Roberts Pharmaceutical Corporation, a US company acquired by the Group 
on 23 December 1999. Exercise of these options results in the option holder receiving ordinary shares in the Company. As a result 
of the acquisition of Roberts, and in accordance with the terms of the original Roberts Plan, all options granted under that plan 
became immediately capable of exercise and were not subject to any performance criteria.

v) Following the acquisition of BioChem on 11 May 2001, the BioChem Plan was amended such that options over BioChem’s common
stock became options over ordinary shares of the Company. All BioChem options, which were not already exercisable, vested and
became exercisable as a result of the acquisition and were not subject to any performance conditions.

vi) Options granted under the Sharesave Scheme are granted with an exercise price equal to 80% of the mid-market price on the 
day before invitations are issued to employees. Employees may enter into three or five-year savings contracts. The exercise of options
under this Scheme is not subject to any performance criteria.

vii) Under the Stock Purchase Plan options are granted with an exercise price equal to 85% of the fair market value of a share on 
the enrolment date (the first day of the offering period) or the exercise date (the last day of the offering period), whichever is the lower.
The offering period is for 27 months. The exercise of options under this plan is not subject to any performance condition.

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 61



62 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

24 Reserves
Group

Share Exchangeable Capital Other Profit and
premium shares reserve reserves loss account

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2003 3,214,512 191,552 2,755 24,247 (709,577)
Exchange of exchangeable shares 1,122 (1,127) – – –
Repurchase of ordinary shares – – 380 – (31,808)
Options exercised 3,061 – – – –
Foreign exchange – – – – (47,157)
Retained loss for the year – – – – (363,355)

As at 31 December 2003 3,218,695 190,425 3,135 24,247 (1,151,897)

The cumulative goodwill resulting from acquisitions that has been written-off directly to reserves amounts to £208,194,000 as at 
31 December 2003 and 31 December 2002. 

The capital and other reserves arose in relation to various Group reconstructions and certain financing transactions, and are not distributable.

Company

Share Exchangeable Capital Other Profit and
premium shares reserve reserves loss account

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

As at 1 January 2003 3,215,437 191,552 1,674 18,079 (15,930)
Exchange of exchangeable shares 1,122 (1,127) – – –
Repurchase of ordinary shares – – 380 – (31,808)
Options exercised 3,077 – – – –
Foreign exchange – – – – (16,071)
Retained profit for the year – – – – 194,246

As at 31 December 2003 3,219,636 190,425 2,054 18,079 130,437
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25 Reconciliation of movement in Group shareholders’ funds

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Loss for the year (363,355) (588,399)
Other recognised gains and losses relating to the year (47,157) (62,739)

(410,512) (651,138)

Repurchase of ordinary share capital (31,808) –
Arenol loan note conversion – 955
Proceeds on exercise of employee share options 3,114 3,983

Net reduction in shareholders’ funds (439,206) (646,200)

Opening shareholders’ funds 2,747,706 3,393,906

Closing shareholders’ funds 2,308,500 2,747,706

The cumulative foreign exchange differences on translation amount to £94,679,000 losses as at 31 December 2003 and £47,522,00
losses as at 31 December 2002.
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26 Guarantees, commitments and contingencies
(a) Leases
The Group leases property, computer and office equipment and motor vehicles on short-term operating leases. The rents payable under
property leases are subject to renegotiation at various intervals specified in the leases. The Group pays for substantially all of the
insurance, maintenance and repair of these assets.

The minimum annual rentals under the foregoing operating leases are as follows:

Group

2003 2002

Land and Motor Land and Motor
buildings Equipment vehicles buildings Equipment vehicles

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating leases which expire:
– within 1 year 30 538 973 179 333 50
– within 2 – 5 years 1,010 1,856 1,756 1,263 1,827 902
– after 5 years 1,600 5 – 245 1 –

2,640 2,399 2,729 1,687 2,161 952

Company

2003 2002

Land and Motor Land and Motor
buildings vehicles buildings vehicles

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating leases which expire:
– within 1 year – 35 – 22
– within 2 – 5 years 145 34 145 89

145 69 145 111
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26 Guarantees, commitments and contingencies continued
(b) Guarantees and collateral
Shire has guaranteed the building lease entered into by its wholly owned subsidiary, Shire US Manufacturing Inc. In addition, as at
31 December 2003 the Group had £3.8 million of cash held as collateral for this lease. 

(c) Letters of credit
As at 31 December 2003 the Group had a number of irrevocable standby letters of credit totalling £24.5 million.

(d) Capital commitments
(i) Interests in companies and partnerships
The Group has undertaken to subscribe to interests in companies and partnerships for amounts totalling £25.0 million (2002: £23.9
million). As at 31 December 2003 an amount of £20.5 million (2002: £17.0 million) has been subscribed, leaving an outstanding
commitment of £4.5 million (2002: £6.9 million).

(ii) Government of Canada
In 2001, the Group signed a ten-year non-cancellable contract with the Government of Canada (GOC) to assure a state of readiness 
in the case of an influenza pandemic (worldwide epidemic) and to provide influenza vaccine for all Canadian citizens in such an event
(hereinafter referred to as the Pandemic contract). 

The concept of a state of readiness against an influenza pandemic requires the development of sufficient infrastructure and capacity 
in Canada to provide for domestic vaccine needs in the event of an influenza pandemic. The Group is committed to provide 32 million
doses of single-strain (monovalent) flu vaccine within a production period of 16 weeks. The Group has therefore begun a process of
expanding its production capacity in order to meet this objective within a five-year period ending January 2006.

The Group is committed to approximately £7.8 million (CAN$18.0 million) of capital expenditure for the purpose of achieving the level 
of pandemic readiness required in the Pandemic contract. The GOC has agreed to reimburse the Group £5.8 million (CAN$13.5 million).
At the end of the contract, the Group is committed to buy back any unused and unexpired materials and capital assets reimbursed by
the GOC (at net book value) that can be used for production of trivalent vaccine or other products.

As a condition of the Pandemic contract, Shire Biochem, a wholly owned subsidiary, entered into an irrevocable standby letter of credit
of £10.6 million (CAN$24.5 million). The standby letter of credit is collateralised by an equivalent amount of cash.

(iii) Vaccine production facility 
In addition, under another GOC contract, the Group is required to supply the GOC with a substantial proportion of its annual influenza
vaccine requirements over a ten-year period ending March 2011. Subject to mutual agreement, the contract can be renewed for a
further period of between one and ten years.

The Group is also committed to the expansion of its vaccine production facility located in Quebec City. A new building will be located
alongside the existing vaccine production facility in the Quebec Metro High Tech Park for an estimated £21.0 million (CAN$48.8 million).
Construction of this facility commenced in November 2003. It is expected that this facility will be operational in 2006.

(iv) TPC research facility 
In March 2000, the Group entered into a funding agreement with TPC, a Canadian governmental agency, (hereinafter referred to as the
TPC agreement) relating to the research and development of recombinant protein vaccines. The TPC agreement has as its objective the
creation in Canada of skilled scientific and technological jobs in the research and development field, the local manufacture of developed
products, capital investment and financial return on investment.

The TPC agreed to a total contribution not to exceed £34.6 million (CAN$80.0 million). Such contribution is repayable to the TPC in 
the form of royalties on the net sales value (gross invoiced amounts less discounts, taxes and delivery costs) if the products become
commercialised. The Group is obligated to pay such royalties in the period to 31 December 2016. No amounts have been accrued 
with respect to this obligation, as the conditions for repayment have not yet been met.

As a condition of the TPC agreement, the Group has an obligation to build a vaccine research facility in Canada. The construction of 
the vaccine research centre in Laval, Canada will represent an investment of approximately £15.4 million (CAN$35.6 million) and should
be completed in December 2004.

The TPC agreement requires the Group to comply with certain conditions as outlined in the agreement. Any violation of such conditions
allows the TPC to declare the Group in default and may result in repayment of all previous funding.

(v) METHYPATCH
In connection with the Group’s purchase of METHYPATCH in 2003, the Group has obligation to make certain payments on the
achievement of milestones. This will require up to £27.9 million ($50.0 million) on registration and a further £41.9 million ($75.0 million)
dependent upon certain sales targets being achieved.

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 65



66 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

26 Guarantees, commitments and contingencies continued
(vi) DRAXIS
In connection with the Group’s purchase of a range of products from DRAXIS Health Inc, in 2003, the Group has an obligation to make
certain milestone payments if no generic event occurs for certain products purchased. The milestone payments could reach an amount
of £1.7 million (CAN$4.0 million) if no generic events have occurred for those products by 22 January 2007.

(e) Contingent liabilities
Shire is involved in various legal proceedings considered typical to its business, including those set out below. Although there can be 
no assurance regarding the outcome of any of the legal proceedings referred to below, Shire believes that they will not have a materially
adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. 

(i) Phentermine
Shire US Inc. (SUS), a wholly owned subsidiary, is a defendant in 429 lawsuits still pending in both US federal and state courts which
seek damages for, among other things, personal injury arising from phentermine products supplied for the treatment of obesity by SUS
and several other pharmaceutical companies. SUS, formerly known as Shire Richwood Inc., has been sued as a manufacturer and
distributor of phentermine, an anorectic used in the short-term treatment of obesity and one of the products addressed by the lawsuits.
The suits relate to phentermine either alone or together with fenfluramine or dexenfluramine. The lawsuits generally allege the following
claims: the defendants marketed phentermine and other products for the treatment of obesity and misled users about the products and
dangers associated with them; the defendants failed adequately to test phentermine individually and when taken in combination with
the other drugs; and the defendants knew or should have known about the negative effects of the drugs and should have informed 
the public about such risks and/or failed to provide appropriate warning labels. SUS has been named as a defendant in a total of 
4,226 such phentermine lawsuits, in respect of which SUS has been dismissed as a defendant in 3,797 cases. Shire is awaiting 
the furtherance of proceedings in the remaining 429 pending lawsuits.

SUS became involved with phentermine through its acquisition of certain assets of Rexar Pharmacal Corporation (Rexar) in January
1994. In addition to SUS potentially incurring liability as a result of its own production of Oby-Cap, a phentermine product, the plaintiffs
may additionally seek to impose liability on SUS as successor to Rexar. SUS intends to defend vigorously all the lawsuits. SUS denies
liability on a number of grounds including lack of scientific evidence that phentermine, properly prescribed, causes the alleged side
effects and that SUS did not promote phentermine for long-term combined use as part of the “fen/phen” diet. Accordingly, SUS intends
to defend vigorously any and all claims made against the Group in respect of phentermine. Legal expenses to date have been paid by
Eon, the supplier to SUS, or Eon’s insurance carriers but such insurance is now exhausted. Eon has agreed to defend and indemnify
SUS in this litigation pursuant to an agreement dated 30 November 2000 between Eon and SUS.

(ii) ADDERALL XR
Shire’s extended release "once daily" version of ADDERALL, ADDERALL XR is covered by US patent No. 6,322,819 (the '819 Patent).
In January 2003 the Group was notified that Barr Laboratories, Inc. (Barr) had submitted an Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA)
under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission to market a generic version of ADDERALL XR prior to the expiration date of the
Group’s ‘819 Patent. The notification alleged that the ‘819 Patent is not infringed by Barr's extended release mixed amphetamine salt
product, which is the subject of Barr’s ANDA. On 24 February 2003 Shire Laboratories Inc. (Shire Laboratories) filed suit against Barr in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York alleging that Barr’s ANDA infringes the '819 Patent. The Group is
seeking a ruling that Barr’s ANDA infringes the ‘819 Patent and should not be approved before the expiration date of the ‘819 Patent. 
The Group is also seeking an injunction to prevent Barr from commercialising its ANDA product before the expiration of the ‘819 Patent,
damages in the event that Barr should engage in such commercialisation, as well its legal fees and costs. Barr has counterclaimed for 
a declaration that its ANDA product will not infringe the claims of the ‘819 Patent. Barr is also seeking its legal fees, costs and expenses.

On 12 August 2003 Shire Laboratories was issued a new US patent No. 6,605,300 (the ‘300 Patent) covering ADDERALL XR. In August
2003 Shire was notified that Barr had submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic
version of ADDERALL XR prior to the expiration date of the ‘300 Patent and alleging that the ‘300 Patent is invalid. In September 2003
Shire Laboratories filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against Barr alleging that Barr’s
ANDA infringes the ‘300 Patent. The Group is seeking a ruling that Barr’s ANDA infringes the ‘300 Patent and should not be approved
before the expiration date of the ‘300 Patent. The Group is also seeking an injunction to prevent Barr from commercialising its ANDA
product before the expiration of the ‘300 Patent, damages in the event that Barr should engage in such commercialisation, as well its
legal fees and costs. By way of a counterclaim Barr is seeking a declaration that the ‘300 Patent is invalid and Barr has also asked 
for its legal fees, costs and expenses. The lawsuits against Barr with respect to the 819 and ‘300 Patents were consolidated in
December 2003 and a trial date scheduled for January 2006.
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26 Guarantees, commitments and contingencies continued
Barr may not launch a generic version of ADDERALL XR before it receives final approval of its ANDA from the FDA. The lawsuits
triggered stays of FDA approval of up to 30 months from the Group’s receipt of Barr’s notices to allow the court to resolve the suits.
Even if Barr receives a tentative approval from the FDA, it cannot lawfully launch its generic version before the earlier of the expiration 
of the latest stay (February 2006) or a district court decision in its favour. In the event that the Group does not prevail, then Barr could
be in a position to market its extended release mixed amphetamine salt product upon FDA final approval of its ANDA following the
expiry of the existing Hatch-Waxman exclusivity in October 2004.

In November 2003 Shire was notified that Impax Laboratories (Impax) had submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-Waxman Act seeking
permission to market its generic version of ADDERALL XR prior to the expiration dates of the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents and alleging that
the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents are not infringed by Impax’s extended release mixed amphetamine salt product, the subject of Impax’s
ANDA. In December 2003, Shire Laboratories filed suit against Impax for infringement of the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents. The Group is
seeking a ruling that Impax’s ANDA infringes the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents and should not be approved before the expiration dates of the
‘819 and ‘300 Patents. The Group is also seeking an injunction to prevent Impax from commercialising its ANDA product before the
expiration of the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents, damages in the event that Impax should engage in such commercialisation, as well its legal
fees and costs. Impax’s affirmative defences include noninfringement and invalidity of both the ‘819 and ‘300 Patents. Impax is also
requesting that costs be assessed against the Group.

Impax may not launch a generic version of ADDERALL XR before it receives final approval of its ANDA from the FDA. The lawsuit
triggered a stay of FDA approval of up to 30 months from the Group’s receipt of Impax’s notice to allow the court to resolve the suit.
Even if Impax receives a tentative approval from the FDA, it cannot lawfully launch its generic version before the earlier of the expiration
of the stay (May 2006) or a district court decision in its favour. In the event that the Group does not prevail, then Impax could be in a
position to market its extended release mixed amphetamine salt product upon FDA final approval of its ANDA following the expiry of 
the existing Hatch-Waxman exclusivity in October 2004 and upon expiry of any exclusivity that Barr may hold. 

(iii) CARBATROL
In August 2003 the Group was notified that Nostrum Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nostrum) had submitted an ANDA under the Hatch-
Waxman Act seeking permission to market its generic version of the 300 mg strength of CARBATROL prior to the expiration date of 
the Group’s US patents for CARBATROL, US patent No. 5,912,013 (the ‘013 Patent) and US patent No. 5,326,570 (the ‘570 Patent). 
The notification alleges that the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents are not infringed by Nostrum’s 300 mg extended release carbamazepine product,
the subject of Nostrum’s ANDA. This dosage strength represents half of Shire’s current sales in epilepsy. On 18 September 2003 Shire
Laboratories Inc. served suit against Nostrum in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey for infringement of these
two patents. The Group is seeking a ruling that Nostrum’s ANDA infringes the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents and should not be approved before
the expiration date of the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents. The Group is also seeking an injunction to prevent Nostrum from commercialising 
its ANDA product before the expiration of the ‘013 and ‘570 Patents, damages in the event that Nostrum should engage in such
commercialisation, as well its legal fees and costs. On 23 January 2004 the Group amended the complaint to delete the allegations with
respect to the ‘013 Patent. By way of counterclaims Nostrum is seeking a declaration that the ‘570 and ‘013 Patents are not infringed
by Nostrum’s ANDA product as well as actual and punitive damages for alleged abuse of process by Shire. 

Nostrum may not launch a generic version of CARBATROL before it receives final approval of its ANDA from the FDA. The lawsuit
triggered a stay of FDA approval of up to 30 months from Shire’s receipt of Nostrum’s notice to allow the court to resolve the suit. 
Even if Nostrum receives tentative approval from the FDA for its ANDA, it cannot lawfully launch its generic version before the earlier 
of the expiration of the stay (February 2006) or a district court decision in its favour. In the event that the Group does not prevail, then
Nostrum could be in a position to market its 300 mg extended release carbamazepine product upon FDA final approval of its ANDA.

(iv) Other matters
In addition, the Group is involved in claims and lawsuits in the normal course of business. It is not possible at this time to determine 
the ultimate outcome of any of these claims.
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27 Pension arrangements
The Group has a number of defined contribution retirement plans that together cover substantially all employees. The company
contribution is fixed as a set percentage of employee’s pay. The pension cost charge for the defined contribution schemes for the 
year was £9,824,000 (2002: £4,702,000). The closing creditor in respect of pension premiums at 31 December 2003 is £605,000 
(31 December 2002: £306,000).

The defined benefit plan operated by the Group was a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) for certain US employees of 
the acquired company, Roberts Pharmaceutical Corporation, who met certain age and service requirements. The plan was discontinued
in 2000 and there were no contributions payable in respect of the years 2003 and 2002. 

The Group paid a lump sum of £11.3 million ($18.0 million) into the SERP, which was accounted for as a fair value adjustment on the
acquisition of Roberts Pharmaceutical Corporation to make good the deficit on this scheme at the time of acquisition. This lump sum
payment has led to the Group having no future liability under the SERP, which has been closed to new members with contributions no
longer payable by existing members. The asset and liability of £6.7 million and £5.0 million respectively are shown in notes 18, 20 and
21 respectively. 
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28 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash inflow from operating activities

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Group operating loss (299,237) (533,145)
Exchange gains – 962
Depreciation 13,404 9,073
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 120,705 153,979
Profit on sale of discontinued operations (698) (2,006)
(Profit)/loss on sale of tangible fixed assets (100) 854
Write-off of fixed asset investments 9,491 5,809
Write-off of intangible fixed assets 442,815 631,447
Write-off of tangible fixed assets 5,965 –
Decrease/(increase) in stocks 3,320 (1,485)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors (27,868) 51,832
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 12,478 (14,999)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 280,275 302,321

The company, which was acquired during 2002, contributed £3.6 million (US$5.8 million) outflow to the Group’s net operating cashflows
and utilized £3.5 million (US$5.7 million) for capital expenditure and financial investments in that year.

(b) Analysis and reconciliation of net debt 

Acquired Other
Start of in year non-cash Exchange End of

year excl. cash Cash flow changes movement year
Year ended 31 December 2003 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 558,432 – 124,578 – (61,340) 621,670
Debt due within one year (389) – 443 (446) (39) (431)
Finance leases (162) – 160 (155) (1) (158)

557,881 – 125,181 (601) (61,380) 621,081

Debt due after one year (244,325) – 17,610 446 23,186 (203,083)
Finance leases (3,757) – – 155 364 (3,238)

309,799 – 142,791 – (37,830) 414,760

Current assets investments 196,364 – (17,848) – (8,621) 169,895

Net funds 506,163 – 124,943 – (46,451) 584,655

Acquired Other
Start of in year non-cash Exchange End of

year excl. cash Cash flow changes movement year
Year ended 31 December 2002 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 81,434 – 493,102 – (16,104) 558,432
Debt due within one year (3,008) – 2,005 565 49 (389)
Finance leases – (243) 74 – 7 (162)

78,426 (243) 495,181 565 (16,048) 557,881

Debt due after one year (269,883) – (1,173) 389 26,342 (244,325)
Finance leases – (3,926) – – 169 (3,757)

(191,457) (4,169) 494,008 954 10,463 309,799

Current assets investments 497,397 – (254,561) (87) (46,385) 196,364

Net funds 305,940 (4,169) 239,447 867 (35,922) 506,163

5766_shire_SFS_artwork_11.qxd  22/6/04  4:10 pm  Page 69



Notes to the accounts

for the year ended 31 December 2003

70 Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc

28 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement continued
(b) Analysis and reconciliation of net debt continued

2003 2002
£’000 £’000

Increase in cash in the year 124,578 493,102
Cash outflow from decrease in debt and lease financing 18,213 906
Cash inflow from decrease in liquid resources (17,848) (254,561)

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 124,943 239,447

Leases and current asset investments acquired with subsidiary undertakings – (4,169)
Arenol loan note conversion – 954
Qualia Computing Inc., joint venture – (87)
Translation difference (46,451) (35,922)

Movement in net funds in year 78,492 200,223
Net funds at beginning of year 506,163 305,940

Net funds at end of year 584,655 506,163

(c) Major non-cash transactions 
There are no major non-cash transactions in 2003.

29 Related party transactions
Transactions with Directors of the Company are disclosed in the Directors’ report on pages 12 and 13.

In accordance with Financial Reporting Standard No.8 (related party disclosures), transactions with other companies in, and investee
related parties of, the Shire Pharmaceuticals Group have not been disclosed in these financial statements.
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc
Chief Executive Officer: Matthew Emmens
Hampshire International Business Park
Chineham, Basingstoke
Hampshire RG24 8EP, UK
Tel +44 (0)1256 894 000
Fax +44 (0)1256 894 708

Shire Pharmaceuticals Limited
Managing Director: John Freeman
Hampshire International Business Park
Chineham, Basingstoke
Hampshire RG24 8EP, UK
Tel +44 (0)1256 894 000
Fax +44 (0)1256 894 708

Shire Pharmaceuticals Ireland Limited
Director and General Manager: Brian Martin
2nd Floor, Building 1A
Citylink Business Park
Old Naas Road
Dublin 12, Ireland
Tel + 353 1 429 7700
Fax + 353 1 429 7701

Shire Pharmaceutical Contracts Limited
(Singapore representative office)
Managing Director: Tony Ooi
LiFung Centre
58 Toh Guan Road # 03-09A
Singapore 608829
Tel +65 6665 2795
Fax +65 6665 2797

Shire Deutschland GmbH & Co KG
General Manager: Leonhard Terp
Siegburger Strasse 126
D-50679 Köln, Germany
Tel +49 221 88047 30
Fax +49 221 88047 41

Shire France S.A.
General Manager: Vincent Lucet
88, rue du Dôme
92514 Boulogne-Billancourt
Cedex, Paris, France 
Tel: +33 (1) 46 10 90 00
Fax: +33 (1) 46 08 21 49

Shire Italia S.p.A
General Manager: Charles Marchetti
Via Provinciale Lucchese, 70
Sesto Fiorentino, 50019 Firenze, Italy
Tel +39 (0) 5530 250 50
Fax +39 (0) 5530 250 51

Shire Pharmaceuticals Iberica SL
Managing Director: José Antonio Senz 
de Broto
Paseo Pintor Rosales num. 40, 
Bajo Izda, 28008 Madrid, Spain
Tel +34 915 500691
Fax +34 915 493 695

Shire US, Inc.
EVP and General Manager, North America: 
Greg Flexter
One Riverfront Place
Newport, KY 41071, USA
Tel +1 800 828 2088
Tel +1 859 669 8000
Fax +1 859 669 8414

Shire US Manufacturing, Inc.
EVP Global Supply Chain & Quality: John Lee
11200 Gundry Lane
Owings Mills, MD 21117, USA
Tel +1 410 413 1000
Fax +1 410 413 2000

Shire Laboratories, Inc.
President and Chief Executive Officer: 
Jack Khattar
1550 East Gude Drive
Rockville, MD 20850, USA
Tel +1 301 838 2500
Fax +1 301 838 2501

Shire Pharmaceutical Development, Inc.
Senior Vice President: Simon Tulloch
1801 Research Blvd., Suite 600
Rockville, MD 20850, USA
Tel +1 240 453 6400
Fax +1 240 453 6404

Shire Biologics Inc. 
Canada
President: Randal Chase
275, Armand-Frappier Blvd
Laval, Quebec, Canada H7V 4A7
Tel +1 450 978 7800
Fax +1 450 978 7755
2323 du Parc Technologique Blvd
Sainte-Foy, Quebec, Canada G1P 4RB
Tel +1 418 650 0010
Fax +1 418 650 0080

Shire Biologics Inc. 
US
Senior Vice President R&D: Ronald Ellis
30 Bearfoot Rd
Northborough
MA 01532, USA
Tel +1 508 351-9944
Fax +1 508 351-9675

Shire BioChem Inc.
275, Armand-Frappier Blvd
Laval, Quebec, Canada H7V 4A7
Tel +1 450 978-7800
Fax +1 450 978-7755
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Designed and produced by 
Bostock and Pollitt Limited

Registered office address
Hampshire International Business Park
Chineham, Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG24 8EP, UK
Registered in England
No. 2883758

Investor relations
Cléa Rosenfeld
Tel + 44 (0)1256 892160
Fax + 44 (0)1256 894712
Email investorrelations@uk.shire.com
www.shire.com

Registrars and transfer office
All administrative enquiries relating to
shareholdings should be addressed to Lloyds
TSB Registrars, clearly stating the registered
shareholder's name and address.

Lloyds TSB Registrars
The Causeway, Worthing
West Sussex, BN99 6DA, UK
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Shire Pharmaceuticals Group plc Head Office

Hampshire International 
Business Park
Chineham, Basingstoke
Hampshire RG24 8EP

T: +44 (0)1256 894 000
F: +44 (0)1256 894 708

www.shire.com
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